PRESERVATION
MARYLAND

REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS
Elkridge Furnace Plank Houses

Preservation Maryland, a nonprofit organization headquartered in Baltimore, Maryland, is soliciting competitive
proposals from qualified firms for design-build services for the restoration of the plank houses at the Elkridge
Furnace Complex, located at 5745 Furnace Ave, Elkridge, MD 21075.

To be considered as eligible, Respondents must be legally licensed as applicable under pertinent laws in the State
of Maryland; meet one or more of the Professional Qualification Standards—or their equivalent—as set forth by
the Secretary of the Interior’s Standards and Guidelines (SOI); and have demonstrated experience in historic
restoration.

Preservation Maryland requests that interested parties respond to the solicitation by 4:30 P.M. ET on Tuesday,
October 8, 2024.

1. CLIENT

Preservation Maryland is a statewide non-profit working to protect Maryland’s unique and irreplaceable heritage
while creating a more equitable and sustainable future. The organization harnesses the power of historic places
to revitalize and reinvest in communities, advocate, and build the historic trades workforce for the benefit of all
Marylanders. To learn more, visit www.preservationmaryland.org.

2. PROJECT OVERVIEW
2.1 Background

Owned by the State of Maryland and managed by the Maryland Department of Natural Resources - Maryland Park
Service (DNR), the Elkridge Furnace Plank Houses are contributing resources within the NRHP-listed Elkridge
Furnace Complex (MIHP# HO-367) located in Patapsco Valley State Park. Sited at 5745 Furnace Ave, Elkridge, MD
21075 (parcel 0615, tax map 0038), each house is a single-story, gable-roofed, 14’ x 16’ dwelling of plank
construction on a stone foundation. The NRHP listing also suggests that they were likely constructed of re-
purposed timbers.

The two structures sit next to the Elkridge Furnace Inn (Lessee)—a commercial lease area in the park that serves
as a restaurant, inn, and wedding venue—and are somewhat distinct from each other, with the southeast building
having been finished and plastered on the interior, while the northwest building was simply whitewashed.
Archaeological evidence indicates that the structures were assembled in their current location in the mid-19th
century and likely housed enslaved ironworkers. Horizontal plank construction was once commonly used for
outbuildings and housing for enslaved workers; however, many such structures have been lost to time. Indeed,
the Elkridge Furnace houses represent two of only a handful of known surviving examples in Maryland. Another
surviving example of a similar structure is located at Blandair County Park in Columbia, Maryland (MIHP# HO-33).

2.2 Description

In partnership with DNR, Preservation Maryland is overseeing the restoration of and interpretive design for the
Elkridge Furnace Plank Houses. Their architectural features and likely occupants tell an important piece of the
area’s layered history. However, both structures are at great risk of collapsing and in need of immediate
intervention to prevent their loss. The northwest building is in the worst condition with two of its walls already
partially collapsed and its roof held up by a series of temporary braces. The southeast building, while not in as
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precarious a state, has suffered detrimentally from water intrusion, and one of the plank walls is beginning to cave
in.

The goal of this project is to accurately restore the houses in such a manner as to retain as much historic fabric as
possible to ensure their longevity and prepare the site for expanded interpretation. Planning, design, and
construction services are expected for completion of the scopes of work detailed in Attachment A —Scope of Work.

Objectives include:

e Documenting the condition, location, and characteristics of the planks and interior historic fabric

e |dentifying an appropriate treatment plan for each plank house

e Stabilizing both structures immediately and protecting them from the elements while restoration plans
are completed

e Prioritizing the northwest building which is in a more deteriorated state

e Repairing/restoring as much material as possible in accordance with SOI Standards

e Removing vegetation and landscape features around the buildings to prevent future damage from
vegetation and/or moisture intrusion

2.3 Schedule

Work is expected to begin immediately upon contract execution and conclude as expeditiously as possible. The
overall project schedule shall comply with the following hours: 7 A.M. to 4 P.M., Monday-Friday, during designated
work periods to be determined in coordination with DNR and Lessee.

3. SERVICES AND SCOPE OF WORK

The precise scope of work is subject to feedback from the selected Respondent and budget limitations. However,
anticipated work to be undertaken may include, but is not limited to, the following:

e Site coordination with property owner DNR and Lessee

e Laser scans of building exteriors and interiors

e Condition assessment of each plank house

e Treatment plan for both plank houses with cost estimates

e Design services, including preparation of construction drawings and specifications
e Construction administration

e Project inspection services including periodic progress reviews

e Review of contractor pay requests

e Review of contractor change order requests, as necessary

e Completion of the scope of work detailed in Attachment A — Scope of Work

Work recommended and performed shall adhere to the Secretary of the Interior’s Standards and local, state and
federal laws and regulations.

4. DESIGN REQUIREMENTS

Upon conclusion of the scans and condition assessment, the design team shall prepare a written plan for historic
treatment for the whole project, including each phase or process and protection of surrounding materials during
operations. Describe in detail the materials, methods, and equipment to be used for each phase of work. Show
compliance with indicated methods and procedures specified in Attachment A — Scope of Work and/or by DNR
staff. The plan shall also be accompanied by a cost estimate.
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The design team should anticipate preparing stabilization plans for implementation immediately following
completion of the condition assessment.

Design documentation shall be submitted at 30% completion for review. All construction documentation shall
then be submitted at 100% completion for review and approval by DNR and the Maryland Historical Trust prior to
any further work taking place.

5. CONSTRUCTION REQUIREMENTS
5.1 Staging area

The construction site will be limited to the smallest feasible area. Staging is available at the designated location(s)
indicated in Attachment B — Preliminary Site Plan. Construction equipment and material storage shall be located
in areas near the construction site. All locations shall be approved by DNR prior to placement.

Further, the Contractor shall install a temporary chain link fence with a mesh screen around the construction site
(approximately 4,612 SF), as indicated in Attachment B — Preliminary Site Plan. Final dimensions and specifications
shall be determined in coordination with Preservation Maryland and DNR.

The construction site and staging areas shall be returned to pre-construction conditions once construction is
complete.

5.2 Construction Vehicle Parking

Parking of vehicles shall be limited to the designated area indicated in Attachment B — Preliminary Site Plan.

5.3 Site access

Construction efforts shall be coordinated with DNR and not impact business and/or scheduled events at the
Elkridge Furnace Inn.

5.4 Environmental and Sustainability Requirements
The Contractor shall:

e Employ construction best management practices that minimize dust production and onsite sedimentation
transport.

e Employ construction best management practices that minimize noise generation during construction
times.

e Keep the premises and surrounding area free from accumulation of waste materials or rubbish caused by
operations under the contract and employ processes that ensure the generation of as little waste as
possible. Waste disposal in landfills shall be minimized. At completion of the Work, the Contractor shall
remove waste materials, rubbish, the Contractor's tools, construction equipment, machinery and surplus
materials from and about the project site. All material unsuitable for recycling must be disposed of in a
legal manner.

e Adhere to all applicable federal, state, and local laws and acquire permits, where required.

e Comply with designated work time schedules in coordination with DNR and Lessee.

e Ensure safety at all times during pre-construction and construction activities, according to applicable
safety standards, procedures, and laws.

e Contact Miss Utility, prior to work, as per Maryland law (2010 Maryland Underground Facilities Damage
Prevention Law).
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6. BUDGET

This project is supported by grant funding. As such, all costs are limited to a budget range of $371,900 - $509,900.
This may result in necessary modification(s) to the construction scope of work, which Preservation Maryland and
DNR staff will discuss with the selected Respondent upon review of the treatment plan cost estimate. In no event
shall the selected Respondent be entitled to receive more than this amount unless authorized in advance and in
writing by Preservation Maryland. Competitiveness of the budget will be considered as part of the proposal review
process.

7. INSTRUCTIONS TO RESPONDENTS
7.1 Where to Deliver Proposal

All proposals must be submitted as a single PDF attached to an email delivered to LHouston@presmd.org.

7.2 Proposal Due Date
Proposals are due by 4:30 P.M. ET on Tuesday, October 8, 2024.
7.3 Pre-bid meeting

Respondents may choose to attend a pre-bid meeting during a scheduled site visit at 10:00 A.M. ET, Tuesday,
September 17, 2024. Please email Laura Houston at LHouston@PresMd.org by 4:30 P.M. ET, Monday, September
16, 2024, to confirm attendance.

7.4 Preparation of Proposal
Respondents must submit the following:

e Qualifications

e Examples of similar projects

e List of key personnel and proposed subcontractors

e At least three (3) references

e Proposal

e Itemized project budget

e Project schedule that stipulates durations for key tasks and the overall project; identifies milestones; and
accommodates restrictions noted in Section 2.3

Respondents shall submit one (1) digital copy of the proposal package as an attachment to an email and are
encouraged to include as much pertinent data and information as necessary to ensure proper evaluation.
Competitiveness of the budget will be considered as part of the proposal review process.

7.5 Subcontracts

Respondents must identify all portions of the work intended to be performed through subcontractors. Acceptance
of the proposal does not constitute approval of the subcontractors identified in the proposal.

7.6 Minimum Qualifications

Respondents must demonstrate personnel assigned are legally licensed as applicable under pertinent laws in the
State of Maryland; meet one or more of the Professional Qualification Standards—or their equivalent—as set
forth by the Secretary of the Interior’s Standards and Guidelines; and have demonstrated experience in historic
restoration.
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7.7 Small Business Enterprise (SBE), Minority Business Enterprise (MBE) and/or Woman-Owned Business
Enterprise (WBE)

Respondents are not required to be or have subcontractors who are certified SBE, MBE, and/or WBE companies.
However, use of SBE, MBE, and/or WBE companies is encouraged and may be weighted as an element of the
evaluation process

7.8 Inquiries

Every request for a written interpretation or correction must be received at least seven (7) days prior to the
proposal due date in order to be considered. Requests may be submitted by e-mail to Lhouston@presmd.org.
Interpretations, corrections and supplemental instructions will be communicated by written addenda to this
solicitation to all prospective Respondents no later than five (5) days prior to the proposal due date.

Submission of a proposal constitutes acknowledgment of receipt of all addenda. Proposals will be construed as
though all addenda had been received. Failure of the Respondent to receive any addenda does not relieve
Respondents from any and all obligations under the proposal, as submitted.

7.9 Rejection of Proposal

Proposals must be delivered to the specified location and received by the proposal due date to be eligible for
evaluation. Proposals will be considered irregular and may be rejected if they show material omissions, additions
not called for, conditions, limitations, unauthorized alternate proposals or other material irregularities.
Preservation Maryland may consider incomplete any proposal not prepared and submitted in accordance with
the provisions specified herein and reserves the right to waive any minor deviations or irregularities in an
otherwise valid proposal.

7.10  Withdrawal of Proposal

Respondents may withdraw their proposal prior to the designated due date if they submit such a written request
to Preservation Maryland. Respondents may be permitted to withdraw their proposal after the due date for good
cause, as determined by Preservation Maryland in its sole judgment and discretion.

8. EVALUATION AND AWARD PROCEDURES
8.1 Evaluation Procedure

Each response will be evaluated in accordance with the indicated criteria:

1| Background and Qualifications
a) Pastrelevant experience following SOI Standards
b) Special expertise of personnel, as applicable

2| Project Management

a) Names and functions of personnel assigned

b) Commitment to project completion within time and budget constraints
c) Ability to meet project needs, including current workload

d) QA/QC methods

3| Technical Merit

a) Demonstrated comprehension of tasks to be completed

b) Completeness and clarity of proposal

¢) Adequately addresses project goal(s) and objective(s)
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8.2 Award

Acceptance of the successful Respondent’s proposal does not create a contractual relationship between
Preservation Maryland and the successful Respondent.

Preservation Maryland reserves the right to award the agreement to the next available Respondent in the event
the successful Respondent fails to enter into the agreement, or the agreement with said Respondent is terminated
within 30 days of the effective date.

9. EXECUTION OF AGREEMENT

Submittal of a proposal binds the successful Respondent to perform the work upon acceptance of the proposal
and Preservation Maryland’s execution of the project agreement provided by the successful Respondent.

Upon acceptance of the proposal, the successful Respondent must provide:

e A project agreement for review
e Acompleted Form W9
e Satisfactory evidence of insurance coverage as required by the State of Maryland, certain funders, and
Preservation Maryland, including but not limited to:
o General Liability coverage with minimum limits of no less than $1,000,000.00 per claim
o Workers’ Compensation and Employer’s Liability coverage with minimum limits of no less than
that required by Maryland law
o Professional Liability coverage, if applicable, with minimum limits of no less than $1,00,000 per
claim
e Any/All other information and documentation required by the agreement

Preservation Maryland reserves the right to cancel award of the agreement without liability at any time before
the agreement has been fully executed by all parties. Failure upon the part of the successful Respondent to
execute the agreement or timely submit the required documentation will be just cause, if Preservation Maryland
so elects, for award of the agreement to be rescinded.
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ATTACHMENT A

Elkridge Furnace Plank Buildings Scope of Work
Prepared by Peter Morrill - 3/20/2024

The plank buildings at the Elkridge Furnace are incredibly rare resources. Horizontal plank
construction was once commonly used for outbuildings and housing for enslaved workers but
most have been lost to time. The Elkridge Furnace plank buildings represent two of only a
handful of known surviving examples in central Maryland. The two buildings are also somewhat
distinct from each other, with the southeast building having been finished and plastered on the
interior (a very unusual treatment in buildings of this kind) while the northwest building was
simply whitewashed.

Both buildings are in distressed condition and in need of immediate intervention to prevent their
loss. The northwest building is in the worst condition with two of its walls already partially
collapsed. The roof structure is in relatively good condition but is currently being held up by a
series of temporary braces. The southeast building is in somewhat better condition but it has
suffered badly from roof leaks and one of the plank walls is beginning to collapse.

Because of its advanced state of deterioration, the northwest building should be addressed first.
Its lack of interior finishes will allow the contractor to gain a better understanding of the difficulty
of the work before moving to the southeast building where significant interior finishes survive.
The southeast building is decidedly the more significant of the two and great care should be
taken while undertaking repairs. While work is ongoing at the northwest building, some
temporary roof repairs should be undertaken at the southeast building to prevent leaks.

Both buildings should be repaired in accordance with the Secretary of Interior's Standards for
Preservation with an emphasis on retaining as much historic fabric as possible. It may be
desirable to employ the Secretary of Interior's Standards for Restoration on the southeast
building for interpretive purposes. This would entail reconstruction of the original exterior
chimney and restoration of its historic exterior finishes.

Northwest Building
e Cut trees and brush away from the building.

e Prepare measured drawings.

e Label each wall plank/building component and key to the measured drawings.

e |Install a temporary framework to support the roof structure (note: any ground
disturbance to accommodate the temporary framework should be monitored for
archaeological resources.)

e Demolish 20th century animal stalls, feed troughs, etc.

Deconstruct exterior walls.

e Complete conditions assessments of each timber and prepare a detailed treatment plan
for each component of the building.

e Make repairs to individual planks and fabricate replacement planks where missing or
deterioration is too advanced to permit repair. New material should match the species,
dimensions and joinery of the originals.

e Repair and repoint the stone foundation (note: any ground disturbance to accommodate
foundation repairs should be monitored for archaeological resources.)

e Reconstruct the exterior walls.

Reset the roof structure on the rebuilt walls.

e Remove the existing metal roof.



Repair joists, plates, rafters, and sheathing as needed.

Install new standing seam metal roof.

Chink and daub between planks.

Restore the windows and doors. If the windows/doors are missing or too badly
deteriorated, reproductions matching the originals should be fabricated.

Install new weatherboard siding.

Whitewash exterior.

Landscape around the building.

Southeast Building

Cut trees and brush away from the building.

Prepare measured drawings.

Conduct historic paint finishes analysis.

Label each wall plank/building component and key to the measured drawings.

Take up select sections of brick floor to accommodate the temporary supports. Brick

should be salvaged for re-use. Any ground disturbance to accommodate the temporary

framework should be monitored for archaeological resources.)

Install a temporary framework to support the roof structure.

Demolish modern internal framing.

Repoint/repair surviving fireplace jambs and brick knee wall. Ensure these elements are

protected during the restoration process.

Complete conditions assessments of each timber and prepare a detailed treatment plan

for each component of the building.

Repair walls in-situ if possible. Make repairs to individual planks and fabricate

replacement planks where missing or deterioration is too advanced to permit repair. New

material should match the species, dimensions and joinery of the originals. Repairs

should be delicately undertaken so as to preserve as much plaster and lath as possible.

Repair and repoint the stone foundation (note: any ground disturbance to accommodate

foundation repairs should be monitored for archaeological resources.)

Repair joists, plates, rafters, and sheathing. Joist repairs should be delicately undertaken

so as to preserve as much plaster and lath as possible.

Re-lay brick flooring.

Stabilize surviving interior plaster.

Restore the windows and doors. If the windows/doors are missing or too badly

deteriorated, reproductions matching the originals should be fabricated.

Repair existing window and door architraves. Where missing or too badly deteriorated to

retain, new trim should be milled and installed to match the existing.

Remove deteriorated weatherboards.

Stabilize exterior plaster.

Re-chink and daub between planks.

Install new weatherboard siding.

o ALTERNATIVE: This building retains portions of its original fireplace jambs as

well as original exterior plaster finishes on the gable end facing the main house.
It may be desirable to reconstruct this chimney and restore the plaster gable end.
If this alternative is taken, no weatherboard siding is needed. Planks should be
finished in accordance with the historic finishes analysis. The chimney and
exterior finishes on this building are very important for understanding its historic
relationship to the “big house” and could present valuable interpretive
opportunities.

Landscape around the building.



ATTACHMENT B - Preliminary Site Plan

BreliminanysSitelRlanRroposediRestoration{ofithelElkridgelEurnace)InnyRlank{Structures PRELIMINARY NOTES:
. A | - Both structures will be restored by Preservation Maryland with
mm mm PI'O,J ect#' 202 4DN|R280 @m ﬂ%m selected contractor(s). If, for any reason, restoration of both

structures cannot be accomplished, immediate notification
1s required.
- Access must be maintained to the "Wedding Ceremony
Area" (access from the parking area and around the
construction zone is required for Inn services).
- The timeline for construction work will need to be coordinated
with the Inn and DNR as soon as possible (to be determined).
- Inn wedding season is Fall (September to November) and Spring
(March to June) each year, whereby construction work shall
USE AREA 1: MAIN PARKING AREA be coordinated in advance to avoid potential conflicts.
- Work times will be 7:00 am to 4:00 pm during standard work
- A large portion of the closest parking area would days (Monday through Friday - no weekends).
likely be required as a primary staging area. This - Additional modifications to this preliminary plan may be needed,

% i area would be coned off from public use. ! ) X
& r - A dumpster and construction pod are once design plans are prepared, and shall be coordinated with

anticipated in the parking area with approximately the Elkridge Furnace Inn and DNR.
three parking spaces for vehicles.

Sources:
. NRCan, Esri Japan, METI, Esri
Kong), Esri Korea, Esri (Thailand),

Legend:

Buildings and Outbuildings
D 1) Proposed Contractor Staging and Use Area - 1,800 SF
D 2) Proposed Contractor Staging and Use Area - 4,612 SF

ememe [|kridge Furnace Inn Lease Area Boundary (7.50 Acres)

Patapsco Valley State Park (Parklands)

USE AREA 2: CABIN RESTORATION

- The structural Limits of Construction (LOD) is proposed
at 45'X100', whereby the final LOD will be confirmed
when design plans are prepared.

- Existing access paths would be utilized for the proposed

PATAPS CO VALLEY work. Only a small portion would be closed to the public
(around the structures).
STATE P ARK - Temporary or redsigned paths may be needed.

- Vegetative impacts are noted in the restoration
LOD, including the removal of all vegetation and any
landscaping improvements, including the pond, to clear
the area.

- Material storage would likely be utilized in the LOD,
which would be fenced off for public avoidance (temporary
chainlink fence with interpretive screening or signage).

- Post-work interpretive sigange would be emplaced and
coordinated with DNR, the MPS, the Inn and County.

-

O82.5 .25

MD DolT




HO-367
Elkridge Furnace Complex
5741-45 Furnace Road, 5730 Furnace Road, and 5735 Race Road, Elkridge

Description:

The Elkridge Furnace Complex is located at 5741-45 Furnace Road, 5730 Furnace Road,
and 5735 Race Road in Elkridge, in northeastern Howard County, Maryland. The
buildings are set along the south side of the Patapsco River, at the east end of town, and
consist of a brick house, a brick store, a frame house, a brick duplex, and two log
outbuildings. The main building on the site is actuaily two structures built against each
other, and connected to each other. The brick store is set to the southeast, and is set
forward of the brick house. The brick store is two stories tall and five bays by one bay,
and faces southwest toward the road. It is built of 5-1 common bond brick, with a gable
roof that has asphalt shingles and a northwest-southeast ridge, There are interior brick
chimneys on both gable ends, set northeast of the ridge. The brick store has a center-
passage double-pile plan. The brick house is a 2 1/2-story, three-bay by three-bay
structure with Flemish bond brick on the southwest-facing front that is very regular and
has very narrow joints. The other elevations have 5-1 common bond brick for the most
part. This section has a jerkin head gable with asphalt shingles and a northwest-southeast
ridge. There are two interior brick chimneys between the south and center bays, one
southwest of the ridge and one northeast of it. There is a 2 1/2-story ell on the rear that is
three bays by two bays and has a gable roof with asphalt shingles and a northeast-
southwest ridge. It is also constructed of 5-1 common bond brick. The northwest
elevation of the main block has a Diocletian window in the gable end. The brick house
has a side-passage double-pile plan with one room and a service space in the ell.

The northwest log outbuilding is a one-story, two-bay by one-bay log structure with a
rubble stone foundation, log planks with dovetailed corners and weatherboards covering
most of the logs, and a gable roof of corrugated metal with a northwest-southeast ridge.
"The weatherboards are random-width and are fastened with cut nails. The log planks are
3 to 3-1/2 inches thick. The southeast log outbuilding is a one-story, two-bay by one-bay
plank log structure that is dovetailed at the comers and is covered with some
weatherboards fastened with cut nails. It has a rubble stone foundation and a gable roof
with corrugated metal and a northwest-southeast ridge. The southeast elevation has the
remains of a brick fireplace in the center. Both log outbuildings are in a line.

Located on the southwest side of Furnace Avenue, and facing northeast toward it, is a
frame house that is 2 1/2 stories tall and three bays by two bays, with a two-story ell on
the southwest that is four bays by two bays, and a moder wing, in a T plan, attached to
the southeast side of the ell. The historic portions have a rubble stone foundation, wood
shingle siding on the northeast and weatherboards on the other elevations, and a gable
roof with asphalt shingles, and a northwest-southeast ridge on the main block and
northeast-southwest ridge on the ell. There is an interior brick chimney on the northwest
gable end, and another in the center of the ell. The northeast elevation has a doorway in
the east bay of the first story. The brick duplex is located at 5735 Race Road, on the



southeast side of the road, and faces northwest toward the road. It 1s a two story, four-
bay by two-bay brick structure of 5 to 1 common bond on both stories, but the brick is
different in color and appearance on the second story than it is on the first story. Some of
the brick is still covered with vinyl siding. There is a gable roof with asphalt shingles and
a northeast-southwest ridge, with a shallow pitch, and interior brick chimneys on both
gable ends. There is a two-story, two-bay by two-bay ell centered on the rear, with vinyl
siding and a gable roof with asphalt shingles and a northwest-southeast ridge. The
northwest elevation of the main block has two center doors. The southwest elevation has
the ghost line of the pitch of the earlier roof of a 1 1/2-story building,

Significance:

Elk Ridge Landing was settled as early as the 1690s, and was an important commercial
and shipping entrepdt by 1755, the time that the Elk Ridge Fumace was founded by
Alexander Lawson, Edward Dorsey, and Caleb Dorsey, Jr. It has typically been assumed
that the surviving brick buildings were part of the furnace operation, and thus have
traditionally been dated to the eighteenth century This error in dating the structures was
first pointed out by Peter Kurtze in his National Register nomination for the property, and
‘he dated both buildings stylistically to probably the 1830s and attributed them to the then
owners of the furnace, the Ellicotts. These buildings were actually not part of the Elk
Ridge Furnace lands owned by the Dorseys. The two connected brick buildings near the
river, along with the plank log slave quarters adjoining them, the frame dwelling across
the street, and the brick structure at 5735 Race Road, were all part of the tract “Hanover”
owned by Richard Cromwell and sold to John A. Ellicott, Nathaniel E. Ellicott, Jonathan
Ellicott, and Andrew Ellicott, Jr., the sons of Nathaniel Ellicott of Andrew, in 1829. The
deed notes that this parcel of land adjoins the furnace and mill race. The Ellicott family
had experience with iron works from at least 1806 and eliminated the common use of
slaves at them. The Ellicotts reportedly leased the Elk Ridge Furnace in the early
nineteenth century, and bought it in the 1820s. After financial setbacks the Ellicotts sold
the furnace in 1852 to Robert Howard, a merchant of Baltimore City who already owned
furnaces in Baltimore County. In 1858 Howard sold all of his iron works to the Great
Falls Iron Company. The flood of 1873 caused an explosion which destroyed much of
the furnace, and as far as is known, it was never put back into blast.

The southeast brick building, presumably the store, appears to have been constructed
earlier than the house adjacent to it, must date to c¢. 1825-1840, and most probably dates
to ¢. 1830-35. The house would seem to date to c. 1835, and the two were probably built
within only a few years of each other. Also of great significance are the two log plank
structures alongside the kitchen ell of the brick house. These bulldmgs seem to date to
the second quarter of the nineteenth century.



Maryland Historical Trust | Inventory No. HO-367
Maryland Inventory of
Historic Properties Form

1. Name of Property (indicate preferred name)
historic Elkridge Furnace Complex
other
2. Location
street and number  5741-45, 5730 Furnace Avenue, 5735 Race Road .. not for publication
city, town Elkridge __ vicinity
county Howard

3. Owner of Property {give names and maifing addresses of all owners)

name State of Maryland, Dept. of Natural Resources

street and number  Tawes State Office Building telephone

city, town Annapolis state  MD zip code 21401
4. Location of Legal Description

courthouse, registry of deeds, etc. Howard County Courthouse liber 2501 folio 393

city, town Ellicott City tax map 38 tax parcel 615, 617,313  tax ID number

5. Primary Location of Additional Data

Contributing Resource in National Register District

Contributing Resource in Local Historic District

Determined Eligible for the National Register/Maryland Reglster
Determined Ineligible for the Nationa! Register/Maryland Register
Recorded by HABS/HAER

Historic Structure Report or Research Report at MHT

Other:;

6. Classification

Category Ownership Current Function Resource Count
district __ public _____agriculture landscape Contributing Noncontributing
X building(s) . __private _ X commerceftrade recreation/cutture 6 0 buildings
_ shucture _ X both ____defense religion 0 0 sites
site _ X domestic social 1 0 structures
object _____education ___transportation 0 0 objects
_ funerary work in progress 7 0 Total
__government unknown
__ healthcare vacant/not in use Number of Contributing Resources
_ Industry other: previously listed in the Inventory

7



7. Description tnventory No. HO-367

Condition
___axcellent __ detericrated
X _good ____ruins
___fair ___ altered

Prepare both a cne paragraph summary and a comprehensive description of the resource and its various elements as it
exists today.

Summary:
The Elkridge Furnace Complex is located at 5741-45 Furnace Road, 5730 Furnace Road, and 5735 Race

Road in Elkridge, in northeastern Howard County, Maryland. The buildings are set along the south side
of the Patapsco River, at the east end of town, and consist of a brick house, a brick store, a frame house,
a brick duplex, and two log outbuildings. The main building on the site is actually two structures built
against each other, and connected to each other. The brick store is set to the southeast, and is set
forward of the brick house. The brick store is two stories tall and five bays by one bay, and faces
southwest toward the road. It is built of 5-1 common bond brick, with a gable roof that has asphalt
shingles and a northwest-southeast ridge. There are interior brick chimneys on both gable ends, set
northeast of the ridge. The brick store has a center-passage double-pile plan. The brick house is a2 1/2-
story, three-bay by three-bay structure with Flemish bond brick on the southwest-facing front that is
very regular and has very narrow joinis. The other elevations have 5-1 common bond brick for the most
part. This section has a jerkin head gable with asphalt shingles and a northwest-southeast ridge. There
are two interior brick chimneys between the south and center bays, one southwest of the ridge and one
northeast of it. There is a 2 1/2-story ell on the rear that is three bays by two bays and has a gable roof
with asphalt shingles and a northeast-southwest ridge. It is also constructed of 5-1 common bond brick.
The northwest elevation of the main block has a Diocletian window in the gable end. The brick house
has a side-passage double-pile plan with one room and a service space in the ell.

The northwest log outbuilding is a one-story, two-bay by one-bay log structure with a rubble stone
foundation, log planks with dovetailed corners and weatherboards covering most of the logs, and a gable
roof of corrugated metal with a northwest-southeast ridge. The weatherboards are random-width and are
fastened with cut nails. The log planks are 3 to 3-1/2 inches thick. The southeast log outbuilding is a
one-story, two-bay by one-bay plank log structure that is dovetailed at the corners and is covered with
some weatherboards fastened with cut nails. It has a rubble stone foundation and a gable roof with
corrugated metal and a northwest-southeast ridge. The southeast elevation has the remains of a brick
fireplace in the center. Both log outbuildings are in a line.

Located on the southwest side of Furnace Avenue, and facing northeast toward it, 1s a frame house that
1s 2 1/2 stories tall and three bays by two bays, with a two-story ell on the southwest that is four bays by
two bays, and a modern wing, in a T plan, attached to the southeast side of the ell. The historic portions
have a rubble stone foundation, wood shingle siding on the northeast and weatherboards on the other
elevations, and a gable roof with asphalt shingles, and a northwest-southeast ridge on the main block and
northeast-southwest ridge on the ell. There is an interior brick chimney on the northwest gable end, and
another in the center of the ell. The northeast elevation has a doorway in the east bay of the first story.
The brick duplex is located at 5735 Race Road, on the southeast side of the road, and faces northwest
toward the road. It is a two story, four-bay by two-bay brick structure of 5 to 1 common bond on both
stories, but the brick is different in color and appearance on the second story than it is on the first story.
Some of the brick is still covered with vinyl siding. There is a gable roof with asphalt shingles and a
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northeast-southwest ridge, with a shallow pitch, and interior brick chimneys on both gable ends. There
is a two-story, two-bay by two-bay ell centered on the rear, with vinyl siding and a gable roof with
asphalt shingles and a northwest-southeast ridge. The northwest elevation of the main block has two
center doors. The southwest elevation has the ghost line of the pitch of the earlier roof of a 1 1/2-story

building.

Description:
The Elkridge Furnace Complex is located at 5741-45 Furnace Road, 5730 Furnace Road, and 5735 Race

Road in Elkridge, in northeastern Howard County, Maryland. The buildings are set along the south side
of the Patapsco River, at the east end of town, and consist of a brick house, a brick store, a frame house,
a brick duplex, and two log outbuildings. The main building on the site is actually two structures built
against each other, and connected to each other. The brick store is set to the southeast, and is set

forward of the brick house.

Brick Store, exterior

The brick store is two stories tall and five bays by one bay, and faces southwest toward the road. I is
built of 5-1 common bond brick, with a gable roof that has asphalt shingles and a northwest-southeast
ridge. There are interior brick chimneys on both gable ends, set northeast of the ridge.

The southwest elevation of the brick store has a center door on the first story that has one light over two
panels. There is pedimented trim over the light, with a roundel in the center and a plaque to each side
that has incised foliage. There is an apron below the light that has a similar treatment. The panels have
bolection mouldings with corner blocks. There are chamfered posts on each side of the door, with panel
moulds between them and the jambs. The doorway has a wood sill, a bullnose-moulded frame, and a
splayed brick jack arch. The transom bar has a quirked Greek ogee and fillet at the top, a broken ficld
with a bead at the break and a bead on the bottorn. There is a four-light transom. There are two six-
over-six double-hung sash to each side of the doorway, and they have wood sills, bullnose frames, and
splayed brick jack arches. There are cast iron shutter hinges that are smaller than the hinge mortises on
the frames, and there are now fake blinds. This section has a three-bay, one-story porch with a new
wood deck and four wood Doric columns. It has bead-board soffit, a wood box cornice with a bevel bed
mould, and a hip roof with asphalt shingles, The west bay in the foundation has a window opening with
a splayed brick jack arch and a new metal grate. The south bay of the basement has a new addition on it,
The second story has five six-over-six double-hung sash that match the first story, but are shorter, There
is a wood box cornice with a cavetto-and-bead bed mould and a cavetto-and-bead on the cornice, behind
the gutter. The cornice has a 5 1/2-inch fascia board.

The northwest elevation of the brick store has no opening on the first story, while the second story has a
typical six-over-six sash in the center. The gable end also has a typical six-over-six sash in the center,
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but this window is smaller than that on the second story. There are tapered rake-boards that have a
beaded bottom edge, and there is a chimney to the northeast of the window.

The northeast elevation of the brick store, on the first story, has a centered doorway with a typical six-
panel door with panels that have sunken fields and quirked ogee and fillet panel moulds, but the two
center panels have been replaced with new beveled and frosted glass lights. It is mortised and tenoned
and pinned. The transom bar matches that on the southwest elevation of this building, and there is new
stained glass in the transom. The doorway has a bullnose frame, a splayed brick jack arch, and the ghost
of a flat porch roof that covered it. There are two typical six-over-six sash to each side of the doorway,
and the second story has five typical six-over-six sash with no evidence of ever having blinds, The
cornice matches the southwest elevation,

The southeast elevation has a cellar entrance set to the south that has been completely remodeled. The
first story has a six-panel door whose details match that on the northeast elevation of this building, with
the same transom bar as the southwest and northeast elevations; it has a three-light transom. The
doorway has a bullnose frame and a splayed brick jack arch, and is original to the building. There is the
ghost of a one-story gabled addition that covered the door and the east half of the southeast elevation.
Both the second story and the gable have a typical six-over-six sash in the center. There are plain rake-
boards and a chimney set northeast of the ridge.

Brick Store, interior

The basement of both of the brick buildings have been completely altered to create a commercial
kitchen. Above the ceiling of the brick store, in the south comner, is a framed opening. The joists are
hewn, are nine inches deep by 3-1/4 to 4 inches wide, and are whitewashed. They are mortised and
tenoned and pinned into the headers, and this opening is about a foot inside of the southeast wall and
about 6 feet inside of the southwest wall. The opening is approximately 2 feet, 9 inches by 3 feet, 6
inches. This opening is located near the celiar doorway on the southeast wall,

The brick store has a center-passage double-pile plan. The first story passage flooring is 5 1/2-inch
boards that are painted and run northwest-southeast. There is plain baseboard. The architrave at the
southwest end has a double bead while the architrave at the northeast end is symmetrical, with three
beads in the center, a beaded interior edge, and buil’s-eye corner blocks. The doors are new. The front
door opening has been narrowed and was originally double doors, since there are filled hinge mortises
on both sides. The existing door is hung on cast iron butt hinges with five knuckles marked “THOS
CLARK” with the name in a segmental pattern. The stairway is located on the northwest wall and
ascends to the southwest, and has been completely rebuilt. There are scars and patches in the floor for
an earlier stairway that was in the same location and ascended in the same direction.
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The southeast half of the brick store has a new partition wall set to the southwest, and the original
partition wall in this room was to the northeast, against the side of the fireplace, but is now missing, The
southeast end flooring has been replaced recently, and the door architrave here is new, as well. The
windows have a double bead architrave. The sash have 10-inch by 14-inch lights, ovolo muntins, no
parting beads, and are mortised and tenoned and pinned. The second story joists are exposed, are 3
inches by 11 inches, and run northeast-southwest. The joists are probably planed as they are very
smooth and have beads on the bottom corners. They are spaced 18 to 21 inches on centers and have lath
nail holes and plaster burns on the bottom face. The joists have been hacked back at the northeast end,
removing the beads in the process. There is a fireplace on the southeast wall, at the east end, with a
brick hearth, splayed brick jambs, and the brick of the chimney is exposed. The mantel in this location
came from the brick duplex on Race Road. It is oak with a mirrored overmantel of beveled glass, and
has a mantelshelf on scroll brackets and a shelf above the mirror supported by oak columns that sit on
the floor. The support in the ceiling for the hearth in the room above has been boxed in now and is no
longer visible. To the east of the fireplace is a doorway with a door that has six panels with sunken
fields and quirked Greek ogee panel moulds. The architrave has three beads and corner blocks, and
there is an iron plate rim lock that is not original to the door. The windows at the northeast end also
have architrave with three beads, and have comer blocks. There is a ghost on the joists indicating a
partition that was located at the southwest end of the fireplace.

The west room s now cut up for a modern bar, with a dumbwaiter and a bathroom in it, as well. This
room flooring matches that in the passage and the windows and doors have the double bead architrave.
There is a ghost on the floor just northeast of the doorway that appears to be a nailer for a wall that ran
northwest-southeast, but part of this ghost is hidden by the present bar. The northeast wall has a wide
opening with a double bead architrave, but it is not clear if this is original. The north room had a
fireplace on the northwest that has been closed off and boarded over. The openings have double bead
architrave. The floor is carpeted, and there is a room built into the west corner that covers over the
fireplace. North of the fireplace is a doorway that connects to the brick house.

The second story floor plan is similar to the first story. There is also a small room at the southwest end
of the passage. The passage has new flooring and quirked ogee on the baseboard. The architrave has
three beads in the center, and has bull’s-eye comer blocks. Only the southwest door survives, and it has
five lying panels. There is a typical six-over-six sash at the northeast end of the passage. The stair
ascends to the southwest along the northwest wall, and the balustrade and other stair features are
original, The stair has square balusters, a three-quarter round handrail, and turned newel posts that have
a taper and have a Doric column profile. The stair has a plain open stringer, and there are ball drop
pendants on the bottoms of the newels. The northwest wall is plaster on riven lath.
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The southwest chamber has double bead architrave, and the board under the windowsill has three beads;
this board actually covers the edge of the sill. The sash in this room have 10-inch by 12-inch lights,
ovolo muntins, no parting beads and plain rails, no sash weights or latches, and are mortised and tenoned

and pinned at the corners.

The south chamber has double bead architrave. The baseboard matches the second-story passage, and
there is carpeting on the floor. The sash match that in the southwest chamber. There is a new wide
opening on the northeast elevation with pocket doors. The east chamber has carpeting, new baseboard,
and architrave with three beads and bull’s-eye corner blocks. The sash are identical to the first story, but
with smaller lights. There is a fireplace centered on the southeast elevation, with a brick hearth and
splayed brick jambs. It has a wood mantel that is mortised and tenoned and pinned and has been taken
off and put back on. The mantel is very clean, but is probably original and has simply been stripped of
paint. It has Doric columns that match the profile of the newel posts with roundels on the impost blocks
and a paneled frieze that is sunken and flat, with Greek ogee panel moulds. The bed mould has a large
bead that blends into a Scotia, with a fillet at the bottom. The mantelshelf has a quirked Greek ovolo on

the bottom edge.

The northwest chamber is carpeted and the baseboard on the southeast wall matches that of the passage,
though some of the baseboard on the other walls has been replaced or altered. There is a new partition
on the west end, or this wall has been heavily worked over. The southeast wall has no evidence of
another door or partition wall along it. The southeast door has double bead architrave, as do the
southwest windows. The northeast and northwest windows, and the northwest closet, have architrave
with three beads and have comner blocks. All of the sash match those of the first story, but with smaller
lights. There is a fireplace on the northwest elevation, set north of center, with a brick hearth, a parged
surround, and splayed brick jambs. The wood mantel here matches the east chamber and is definitely
original. The mantelshelf has been cut back on all three sides. There is a built-in closet to the north of
the fireplace, and it has a typical six-panel door. A hole has been cut through the back of the fireplace
and the brick walls of both the brick store and the brick house. One joist in the house appears to butt
against the brick wall of the southeast half, which suggests that the northwest half was constructed later;
otherwise, the joist end would have been exposed to the weather., Another joist end stops about one inch
short of the southeast half wall.

The attic is finished and has a center passage with one room to each side. It is carpeted throughout, has
plaster walls, and has double bead architrave. In the passage, the newel post, balusters, and handrail
match that of the second story, and the handrail is ramped. There is random-width flooring that runs
northwest-southeast and is painted, The door to the southeast chamber has six panels with sunken ficlds
and ogee panel moulds. It is mortised and tenoned and pinned and is hung on the opposite jamb, either
having been flipped or reused from another location. It does not have a lock but has a mineral knob.
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The northwest chamber has a beaded-edge vertical-board door that is made of seven narrow boards that
may be hand-planed, though it is hard to be certain because they are so narrow. The door has cast iron
buit hinges that are heavily painted but appear to be plain, and the battens are screwed to the door.
There is a cast iron foliate Norfolk latch on the room side that is not original, and it is just a pull, not a
full latch. The ceiling of the attic follows the rafters and the collar beams.

The southeast attic chamber has peg rail on the northwest wall, to the west of the door, and on the
southeast wall, to the south of the window. There is a seam to the north of the door that may indicate
that there was originally peg rail here, as well. The base of the pegs taper out from the rail, then have a
sharp taper in, with a button end. The sash are mortised and tenoned and pinned, have 8-inch by 10-inch
lights and ovolo muntins, and have no parting beads, weights, or latches. The baseboard is plain. The
northwest chamber has peg rail on the southeast wall, on both sides of the door. The window matches
that in the southeast attic chamber. The chimney on the northwest elevation, and the walls to each side
of'it, are covered, so it is not possible to tell what might have been here.

Brick House, exterior
The brick house is set back from the face of the brick store and is a 2 1/2-story, three-bay by three-bay

structure with Flemish bond brick on the southwest-facing front that is very regular and has very narrow
joints. The other elevations have 5-1 common bond brick for the most part. This section has a jerkin
head gable with asphalt shingles and a northwest-southeast ridge. There are two interior brick chimneys
between the south and center bays, one southwest of the ridge and one northeast of it. Thereisa?2 1/2-
story ell on the rear that is three bays by two bays and has a gable roof with asphalt shingles and a
northeast-southwest ridge. It is also constructed of 5-1 common bond brick.

The southwest elevation of the brick house has a doorway in the south bay of the first story, and this has
a marble sill with an ovolo and fillet on the edge of it at the doorway. There are paired five-panel doors
with sunken, flat double panels that have quirked steep Greek ogee and fillet panel moulds. There is a
cast bronze foliate knob, escutcheon and keyhole. There are plain pilasters to each side of the doorway
with pyramidal panel caps. The sidelights are one-over-one with the top half leaded glass, and the
bottom of the sidelights has been replaced. The doorway has a wide board surround that is beaded on
the inner and outer edges. There are two six-over-six double-hung sash to the west of the doorway, and
they have wood sills with a wash, bullnose frames, and splayed brick jack arches made of very tall
bricks. The windows have wood blinds hung on wrought strap hinges that are tapered, and there are
wrought shutter dogs that are flat on the top and rounded and tapered on the bottom. There is a spring
latch on each sill to catch a hook on the shutter. The blinds are mortised and tenoned and pinned. There
is a one-story, three-bay porch set on granite piers made of single cut stones, with three granite steps and
one concrete step at the base. The porch has a wood deck, three and a half Doric columns, bead board
soffit, and a wood box cornice. It has a shed roof with weatherboards on the northwest end, and the
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porch abuts the brick store. The porch on the brick house wrapped around one bay of the northwest
elevation, A tree came down probably in the 1930s and took off this section of the porch, as well as the
porch on the ell. There are faint ghosts of this wraparound porch still on the northwest elevation. The
brick house appears to be built up against the brick store, with closers right at the south edge of the
building. The second story has three typical six-over-six double-hung sash. There is a corbelled brick
cornice, with two rows of brick visible. The eaves are boarded, and the boards follow the pitch of the
rafters. There is a central gabled wall dormer with wood German siding, a six-over-six double-hung
sash, and a jerkin head at the gable.

The northwest elevation of the main block has one window set to the west of center and two set to the
north of center. The foundation has an eight-light sash behind horizontal iron bars to the west and
another in the center. These windows have wood sills and splayed brick jack arches. The north bay has
a vertical board shutter on tapered strap hinges with round ends. The first story has three typical six-
over-six sash with fake shutters and pintles with plates screwed to the jambs, The holdfasts match the
southwest elevation, which is typical for the building. ‘There are tie rods with “S” end plates between
the first and second stories and beiween the second story and attic. The second story has three typical
six-over-six sash. The gable end has a Diocletian window with a double bead on the mullions. The roof

has wide overhanging eaves.

The northwest elevation of the ell has a celiar bulkhead in the west bay with granite copings and new
doors. There is a granite porch that has four steps in the center, and a typical basement opening that is
missing its sash but has a sheet metal cover in the north bay. The first story has a door in the center, at
the porch, with six panels that have sunken fields and quirked ogee and fillet panel moulds. It is
mortised and tenoned and pinned and set in a bullnose frame. It has a wood sill and splayed brick jack
arch that alternates between single and double bricks; the center has a wide top brick. There is a four-
light transom. On either side of the doorway is a typical six-over-six sash. The west bay has a jack arch
that matches the door, while the north bay jack arch has only single brick voussoirs. There is a ghost of
a shed-roofed porch over the door. The second story has three six-over-six sash with a header course
above and two corbelled courses of brick in the cornice. There are two dormers with gabled roofs and
six-over-six sash, and the dormers have a cornice moulding with returns. There is an interior brick
chimney on the northeast gable end.

The northeast elevation of the ell has no openings. There is a ghost of an addition just east of center and
parging north of center between the first and second stories, plus a small patch of brick in the center. It
is not clear what was formerly located here. There are plain rake-boards, and the brick gable end is
asymmetrical, though the frame porch on the southeast makes it symmetrical.



Maryland Historical Trust
Maryland lnventory Of Inventory No. HO-367
Historic Properties Form

Name
Continuation Sheet

Number 7 Page?

The southeast elevation of the ell has a rebuilt brick basement. The first story has a door in the center
with a six-over-six sash to each side that matches the northwest elevation of the ell. The jack arches all
have single brick voussoirs. There is a three-bay, two-story porch with new plastic decking and three
wood Doric columns, plus a chamfered post set against the main block. Set against the brick wall of the
cll at both ends of the porch is a boxed pilaster with reeding, and with a sunburst patera on the capital.
The walls are painted brick, but there is no evidence of penciling. The porch has slender round railings
with square balusters and has been rebuilt apparently to match the original. The porch soffit has wide
beaded boards of random width. The second story of the porch also has new plastic decking, and has
wood columns set on square piers below the railings; the columns have pronounced entasis. There are
three columns on the southeast and a pilaster against the main block, and one on the northeast end, and
they have Doric capitals. The columns have two annulets on the necking, and an abacus. The southeast
elevation of the ell, on the second story, has a doorway added in the south bay. The center bay has a
typical six-panel door in a bull nose frame, with a wood lintel. The south jamb has queen closers at the
edge of the opening while the east jamb queen closers are set back from the edge. The east bay has a
six-over-six double-hung sash with a wood sill, a bull nose frame, and a stretcher brick course for a
lintel. The south jamb has no closers while the east jamb has one closer set back and one set at the edge

of the opening.

The northeast elevation of the main block of the brick house, on the first story, has a six-panel door that
is mortised and tenoned and pinned, and has sunken fields and quirked ogee and fillet panel moulds. It
has a splayed brick jack arch, On the second story, the north bay doorway has double bead architrave.
There is a straight brick jack arch below two courses of brick that are below a splayed brick jack arch.
This opening was originally a window that was converted to a door. The brick wall has red paint.

The southeast elevation of the main block, on the first story, has a door set south of center, near the
southeast building. It is a typical six-panel door with a bullnose frame and a splayed brick jack arch,
and the opening is original to the building. There are “S” tic rods in the center on this end, as well.
There is no other opening on the first story. The main block brick wall passes behind the brick store,
making it appear that the brick store was built first. The brick house has slightly wider mortar joints on
the side than the brick store. The second story has a typical six-over-six sash in the center that never had
blinds. There is a typical six-panel door set south of center. The gable end has a typical six-over-six
sash, which also never had blinds, both east of center and south of center.

Brick House, interior
The brick house has a side-passage double-pile plan with one room and a service space in the ell. The

passage has random-width pine flooring that runs southwest-northeast, with the floorboards varying
between 3 and 3 3/4 inches wide. The baseboard has a broken field with a quirked Greek ogee above
and a smaller Greek ogee above that. The walls are plaster on brick, and there is symmetrical architrave
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with a large bead in the center and quirked ogees to each side. The corner blocks are paneled, with an
applied patera in the center that appears to be carved wood and has four leaves to each patera. The
ceiling of the passage is 10 feet, 10 inches high. There is a run plaster cornice that has a bead at the
bottom, a fillet, and Greek ovolo and on the ceiling are five ribs between two lancet moulds. The ceiling
is divided into three panels by the five ribs and two lancets, and at the intersection of the division with
the corice are squares with patera. The center panel has a run plaster ceiling medallion that is large,
with a band of moulded or carved grapevine, and small cast acanthus leaves in the center. The other two
panels have a medium-sized run plaster ceiling medallion with a patera in the center. The front or
southwest door has sunk double fields with quirked Greek ogee panel moulds. The door has cast iron
butt hinges with five knuckles and is heavily painted. There are side lights, with the top lights being
original leaded lights with an oval in the center and a half lozenge above and below the oval. One of the
bottom sash is gone, and the other has evidence that it had the same leaded glass pattern. There is one
panel below each side light, and these match the door. The door has a cast brass foliate knob and a large
flush slide bolt at both the top and bottom. The passage has double doors on the southeast wall that lead
to the brick store. This doorway is shorter than the other doors in the passage by 1-1/2 inches, and the
architrave does not have the large center bead, either, The doors here are mortised and tenoned and
pinned, with two pins on each side lock rail and one on each joint of the other rails. Otherwise, the
doors match the other doors in the passage. The passage doors have six panels with sunken fields and
quirked Greek ogee panel moulds. They are mortised and tenoned and pinned, with two pins on the end
of each lock rail and one pin on all the other rails. They are hung on cast iron butt hinges with five
knuckles and the hinges have heavy paint; one hinge is marked “PATENT” and “5 x 4 1/2” and is
fastened with new screws. It is not clear whether this hinge has been cleaned, or is a reproduction. The
doors have plain cast iron rim locks with later geometric foliate brass knobs.

There is a dogleg stair on the southeast that ascends to the northeast. It has an open stringer with
Vitruvian-wave brackets and six panels below the stringer that match the panels on the doors. The
stairway has a curtail step at the bottom and is curved at the landing, with the panel beneath it also
curved. There is a three-quarter-round handrail of walnut and turned, tapered balusters that appear to be
tiger maple. At the northeast end of the passage is a doorway beneath the stair landing that creates a
vestibule under the landing. This door to the rear vestibule is louvered, with two panels of louvers and a
vertical bead down the center of the door. The door is mortised and tenoned and pinned, and is hung on
one new hinge and one cast iron butt hinge with two knuckles. There is a small flush brass latch with a
knob on one side, and a small pivoting handle on the other side. The vestibule behind the louvered door
has typical architrave but with plain corner blocks. This vestibule has a door on the northwest to the
double parlor and a door on the southeast to a new stairway to the basement. The rear door that leads to
a rear porch has a bull nose frame on the interior, and the door matches those in the passage. It is hung
on cast iron butt hinges with five knuckles, and they are labeled but are too heavily painted to be
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deciphered at this time, A cast iron rim lock on this door replaces a larger lock similar in size to a
Carpenter lock. The door also has a wrought slide bolt.

Both halves of the double parlor are identical. The flooring is random-width from 4-1/2 to 6 inches
wide, and runs northeast-southwest. The baseboard and architrave match that of the passage. There is a
run plaster cornice that has a bead at the bottom, a fillet, an ogee and beak mould, then a band on the
ceiling with three ribs between lancet moulds, and a large bead on the inner side of this band. There is
also arun plaster ceiling medallion. On the southeast wall of each parlor is a fireplace that has splayed
brick jambs, a hearth that appears to be slate, and a marble surround. There is a marble mantel that
appears to be Belgian black marble, and it has a pulvinated pilaster on either side of the opening with
pancled imposts and frieze, and there is no bed mould. There is a quirked flute on the edge of the shelf.
The southwest parlor fireplace has an iron back plate that is coved at the top and is cast with
“ELLICOTT ELKRIDGE FURNACE.” The window openings are recessed, with one panel below them
that matches the panels of the doors and have splayed jambs. The six-over-six sash have lancet-profile
muntins, 12-inch by 18-inch lights, parting beads, and sash weights with pulleys. The sash are mortised
and tenoned and pinned at the corners, and only one pinned muntin could be located, There is a large
pair of double doors between the two parlors, with cight panels on each door, and they have the same
details as the other interior doors. The back or northeast parlor has a door on the northeast elevation, set
to the north, which leads to a pantry and kitchen beyond. The fireplace in this parlor has a flue added in
the center of it, and has a new surround. The pantry has a window on the northwest elevation.

The kitchen has 2 1/2-inch pine flooring that runs northwest-southeast. The southwest partition wall is
vertical beaded boards. The ceiling has been taken down exposing hewn joists that run northwest-
southeast and are about 3 by 7-1/2 inches. The southeast and northwest walls have vertical beaded-
edge-and-center half wainscot. The southwest wall has a six-panel door to the south that leads to a
closet beneath the stairway. This door has sunken fields and no panel moulds, has new hinges, and has a
cast iron rim lock. The closet beneath the stairway has a window on the southeast elevation with a 9
over 6 sash with 8-inch by 10-inch lights, ovolo muntins, and no parting beads, The sash is mortised
and tenoned and pinned at the comers and has double bead architrave. No nails are visible in the stair
construction. The southwest wall of the kitchen also has a six-panel door in the center that leads to a
winder stair that ascends to the southeast up to the second story. This door matches the door to the west
of it, but the top panels are now glazed. It has cast iron butt hinges that are marked “THO® CLARK.”
The doorway to the pantry has been enlarged. There is a large cooking fireplace on the northeast wall
with a brick hearth and straight brick jambs. It has a large iron fireback labeled “ELLICOTT 1833.”
This fireback is three feet tall by 4 feet, 8-1/2 inches long, has three reeds around the edge, but is
otherwise plain, and is set against the wall, not into it. There is a crane on the southeast jamb that is
hand-wrought, with many twists in the brace. The fireplace has a splayed brick jack arch with an iron
lintel that passes through the brick jambs and bends up. The bricks are painted red with traces of
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penciling. The brick chimney stack is set back from the fireplace front at 6 feet, 6-1/4 inches above the
floor, and there is a wood mantelshelf here with an ovolo moulding on the edge and a bead at the
bottom. Tt appears to be original.

To the northwest of the fireplace is a built-in cupboard with two doors below a wood countertop. Each
of these doors has two panels with sunken fields and no panel moulds. The doors are mortised and
tenoned and pinned and have butt hinges with two knuckles. The top half of the cupboard is hung on the
wall, rather than resting on the bottom half, and has two doors with four panels each that match the
lower doors. 'The interior has four shelves. This cupboard appears to have been added. The second-
story floor framing for the kitchen fireplace has a trimmer with through tenons and exposed pegs. The
framing for the hearth of the second-story fireplace has two trimmers, but it is not possible to sec how
they are attached, although they do not have through tenons. The bottom of this hearth is parged. Both
the northwest and southeast walls have a six-over-six sash to the northeast and a door to the southwest.
The sash have lancet-profile muntins, 10-inch by 14-inch lights, no parting beads, and are mortised and
tenoned and pinned. The doors have six panels with sunken fields and quirked ogee panel moulds.
There are four-light transoms with ovolo moulds, and the doors have cast iron butt hinges with five
knuckles; they are labeled “E & T C.” There are plain cast iron rim locks on the doors.

The second-story plan mirrors the first story, but also has a small room at the southwest end of the
passage. The passage has a landing at the northeast end of the stairway, with three steps up to the
northeast where there is a doorway leading to the rear porch. The architrave matches the first story but
has new bull’s-eye corner blocks where the patera should be. This doorway has a six-panel door with
sunken fields and quirked ogee panel moulds, is mortised and tenoned and pinned, has cast iron butt
hinges with five knuckles and heavy paint, and has a plain cast iron rim lock that is not original. The
baseboard, architrave, and stair details in the passage all match that of the first story passage. Thereis a
window on the southeast elevation that has architrave below the sill. The opening has straight jambs.
The sash has lancet-profile muntins, 10-inch by 14-inch lights, parting beads, and sash weight cords with
pulleys. The sash are mortised and tenoned and pinned at the corners, and there are no pins in the
muntins. There is a door on the southeast elevation of the passage, south of the window, which leads to
the exterior where there is a fire escape. This door has six panels with sunken fields and quirked ogee
panel moulds, has typical architrave with new corner blocks where the patera were, has cast iron butt
hinges with five knuckles that appeat to be plain, and has a large iron plate rim lock that is original to
the door. The doors to the southwest and west chambers match this door, while the door to the north
chamber is missing. The west chamber door hinges are labeled “E & T C.” The plain cast iron rim lock
is not original. The southwest chamber door has new hinges and no lock, but has glass knobs and a cast
iron escutcheon with egg and dart moulding. This doorway has a three-light transom that is hinged on
the northwest side with cast iron buits that have five knuckles and heavy paint. The sash has new
stained glass lights. The passage has a new ceiling medallion.
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The southwest chamber has a window on the southwest that matches the passage, but has splayed plain
wood jambs, and the sash is set deeper into the wall. The architrave is similar but simpler with no large
bead in the center and a smaller bead on the inner edge. It has bull’s-eye corner blocks that appear to be
original. The flooring here continues from the passage and runs northeast-southwest. It is face-nailed
pine, between 5-1/4 and 6-1/2 inches. The baseboard matches that of the first story. There is a new
ceiling medallion in this room, and it has been made into a modern bathroom.

The west chamber flooring matches that in the passage and runs northeast-southwest. The joists beneath
it run northwest-southeast, are sash-sawn, are 3-inches by 8-1/2 inches, and are spaced 16-1/2 to 17-1/2
inches on centers, There is riven ceiling lath below. The baseboard and door architrave match the
passage, but have bull’s-eye comner blocks. The windows have splayed jambs, and the architrave
matches that in the southwest chamber. There is a fireplace centered on the southeast wall, with a brick
hearth, parged surround, and splayed brick jambs. It has a wood mantel with a Doric column to each
side and a Greek ovolo moulding on the capital of each column. There are bull’s-eyes on the impost
blocks, and the frieze has a horizontal moulding with an ogee at the top and bottom and three beads in
the center, similar to the architrave. The bed mould has a bead at the bottom, two fillets, and a very
deeply projecting beak moulding. The edge of the shelf has a quirked Greek ovolo on the bottom. A
closet has been added to the south of the fireplace, with a four-panel door that has sunken fields and
ovolo panel moulds. It has new hinges and porcelain knobs, with no lock. The architrave matches that
of the windows, but is new. The southwest jamb of the fireplace has been cut through, where the closet
hides it, and is studded out and is plastered. The studs are 3 inches deep by 4 inches wide, and had some
kind of a horizontal member between two of the studs, but this has been removed. Mature cut nails
remain where this horizontal member was, and they must be original. The lath nails are also cut. The
closet is constructed with dimensional lumber and wire nails, and predates the restoration for the present
restaurant. There is a door in the center of the northeast elevation, leading to the north chamber, Itisa
typical six-panel door, and the butt hinges are heavily painted. It has an iton plate rim lock that appears
to be original but is not labeled, and it has glass knobs.

The north chamber flooring, baseboard, door and window architrave, fireplace and mantel, and added
closet are identical to the west chamber. The closet was added to the south of the fireplace and has
horizontals to support a clothes rod that are nailed with nails that have a rounded square head, with a
raised round center to the head. The fireplace northeast jamb is studded out with 3 by 4s that are sash-
sawn, with riven lath fastened by cut lath nails. The closet door has cast iron foliate butt hinges with
two knuckles and acorn finials. The northeast wall of this chamber has a closet set to the north that has a
four-panel door with sunken fields and ogee panel moulds. The door is not pinned together, and it has a
cast iron rim lock and cast iron foliate butt hinges with acorn finials. The architrave has a pulvinated
center with a shallow ogee to each side of it, and there are bull’s-eye corner blocks.
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‘The second story of the ell has a stair passage at the south end, with a small chamber in the west corner
and a large chamber on the northeast. The passage flooring runs northeast-southwest, is painted, and
varies between 4-1/3 and 5-1/4 inches wide. There is plain baseboard and a beaded-edge vertical-board
wall on the southwest that encloses a winder stair; there is a winder at both the top and bottom of each
flight, while the center of the stairway is straight. The openings in the passage have double bead
architrave, and there are typical six-panel doors. The door to the northeast chamber has cast iron butt
hinges with heavy paint and a plain cast iron rim lock that is not original to the door. The west chamber
door has new hinges and does not now have a lock. The west chamber is now a modern bathroom. The
window has double bead architrave and a double ogee below the sill like the main block architrave. The
window has straight jambs, and the sash have ovolo muntins and 10-inch by 12-inch lights. There are
no parting beads and no pulleys or cords, but the sash are mortised and tenoned and pinned. The
northeast chamber flooring continues from the passage and is also painted. There is new wainscot in
this room and double bead architrave. A fireplace is centered on the northeast wall, with a brick hearth,
metal insert, exposed brick wall with a splayed brick lintel and no mantel; a new shelf has been added.
To the east of the fireplace is a built-in closet with double bead architrave, but the door is missing. The
door on the southeast, leading to the porch, has double bead architrave and a cast iron rim lock that is
not original. It has cast iron butt hinges that have five knuckles and one is marked “E & T C,” while the
other is heavily painted. The windows in this chamber all match the west chamber of the ell.

The ell attic is finished, with a vestibule and a chamber to the northeast. The door to this northeast
chamber has beaded-edge vertical boards with a Norfolk latch, and double bead architrave. To the north
of the door is peg rail on the wall, fastened with cut nails, and the turned pegs and rail have never been
painted. The pegs taper at both ends, but more on the outer end that has the knob, and there is a very
narrow groove in the center of the peg. There is a dormer on the northwest with peg rail on the northeast
wall of the dormer. The flooring runs northeast-southwest, appears to be pine, though most of it is
painted, is 4-1/4 to 6-1/4 inches wide, and is face-nailed. The boards enclosing the stairway up to the
attic form a balustrade in the attic around the opening at the northwest end; where there are no boards
there are four horizontal rails.

The main block attic is completely finished with plaster walls and double bead architrave, and the
stairway continues up to it with the same details as the first and second stories. The attic plan has a
vestibule at the top of the stairway with chambers in the south, west, northwest center, and northwest
corners. The vestibule has a window on the southeast that matches those in the second story ell. The
doors have six panels with sunken fields and no panel moulds. They have cast iron butt hinges with
heavy paint, and several are marked “THO® CLARK.” The northwest chamber door is missing. The
south chamber door has a plain cast iron rim lock that is not original to the door. The west and north
chamber doors have original iron plate rim locks, the west one with brass knobs while the north one has
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porcelain and a mineral knob. There is typical random-width pine flooring that runs northeast-southwest
throughout the attic. The south chamber has a modern bathroom, and the window matches that in the
vestibule. The west chamber has a gabled wall dormer on the southwest that has plain trim, and the sash
matches that in the vestibule and is probably reused. There is a small fireplace on the southeast wall,
with a brick hearth, parged surround, and splayed brick jambs. There is a wood mantel with architrave
that has an ogee and cavetto backband and a bead on the inner edge. The wood shelf has a Greek ovolo
on the edge. There is plain baseboard. The northwest end of this chamber was closed off recently to
create a new closet.

The northwest chamber has a Diocletian window with double bead architrave. The center sash is a
casement on cast iron butt hinges with five knuckles, and they are marked “E & T C.” This sash has
ovolo muntins and 10-inch by 11 1/2-inch lights. The northeast wall has a doorway added, with plain
architrave that has a beaded interior edge, and the door is gone. The north chamber has a fireplace on
the southeast that is identical to the west chamber. There is a dormer on the northeast with a sash that
has lancet-profile muntins 10-inch by 14-inch lights, no parting beads, and is mortised and tenoned and
pinned, There is a new closet on the northwest end of the chamber. In the center of the vestibule is an
enclosed ladder stair with a beaded-edge vertical-board door and double bead architrave. The door has a
Norfolk latch and cast iron butt hinges with five knuckles, and the hinges are marked “THO® CLARK.”
The ladder stair gives access to the roof. The southeast wall of the stair enclosure is bratticed boards and
the northeast wall has riven lath with cut nails, and it was never plastered. The rafters are sash-sawn, are
mitered and butted at the ridge, and are 4 inches wide by 5 inches deep. They are spaced 21 to 23 inches
on centers and have sawn marriage marks. They support wide board sheathing with gaps between the
boards. The collar beams are 1 1/2-inch-wide boards that are at least 8 inches deep.

Northwest Log Outbuilding
The northwest log outbuilding faces southwest toward Furnace Avenue and is about 75 feet northwest of

the ell of the house. It is a one-story, two-bay by one-bay log structure with a rubble stone foundation,
log planks with dovetailed corners and weatherboards covering most of the logs, and a gable roof of
corrugated metal with a northwest-southeast ridge. The weatherboards are random-width and are
fastened with cut nails. On the southwest elevation the west bay has a beaded-edge vertical-board door
with a Norfolk latch and there are about four different key or latch holes. This door was hung on hinges
but is now hung on interior strap hinges. There is plain architrave that has a beaded interior edge.
There is no foundation wall at the doorway opening, and there never was one, as the stone foundation
has hard edges at each jamb. There are also several stones set into the ground at the threshold,
suggesting that the interior always had a dirt floor. The south bay has a six-over-six double-hung sash
that is mortised and tenoned and pinned at the corners. The sash have ovolo muntins, 8-inch by 10-inch
lights, a wood sill with a wash, and the architrave matches the door. There is a wood box cornice. The
northwest elevation has no opening on the first story. The gable end has a doorway, but the door is
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missing, and pieces of plain trim survive. The northeast elevation has a boarded-up window opening set
north of center. The sash and the sill are both missing. The architrave has a beaded interior edge. The
jamb boards have a tenon on the bottom that is set into a mortise in the sill, and these boards are fastened
to the log ends with large spikes that have irregular heads, but appear to be cut. Several logs below the
window opening are exposed and have numerous one-inch-diameter holes drilled part way into them,
many filled with peg ends. The holes are randomly spaced, but are often less than 10 inches apart, and
are not in completely straight lines. It is not clear why they are here. On the northeast elevation, at the
north end, the logs at the bottom, where the siding is missing, are numbered. The second log from the
bottom is “II,” the third from the bottom is “III,” and the fourth is “III1.” The southeast elevation has a
window opening that was added in the center, and it has a large two-light sash. A section of log above
this opening is burned and patched. The gable end has a four-light sash set south of center, in a narrow
frame. There are plain rake boards.

On the interior, the foundation projects into the room, with a sill on top on the southwest and northeast
walls. There is a dirt floor, and possibly some stones set in it. The log walls are exposed and
whitewashed, and the logs are hewn, some of them having pegs broken off flush. There are also several
mortises filled with wood blocks. There are several pegs still in these logs, one on the southwest wall,
south of the door, which could be old. There are also thin boards or pieces of boards pushed between
the logs as chinking, along with plaster used as chinking between the logs. The log planks are 3 to 3-1/2
inches thick. This building was converted to a stable at one point, and has a hayrack and several stalls.
It is now filled with parts of various old buildings. The attic joists are both hewn and pit-sawn, are
whitewashed, and run northeast-southwest. Many have several mortises cut through them. In the north
corner is a rebuilt stair constructed with wire nails, and it ascends to the northeast along the northwest
wall. The opening in the floor above the stair appears to be original, with a header at the southwest end
of the opening and one joist cut out for the opening. The southwest door hinges are tapered and have
lima bean cusps. The joists are set on top of the southwest and northeast logs, with neither the joists nor
the logs being notched for the other. The southeast wall has a wide opening that probably originally
held a fireplace. The rafters are set on the floor over top of the joists and are mitered at the foot. The
rafters are hewn and most of them are mitered and butted at the ridge, though several are half-lapped and
fastened with cut nails. The rafters support board sheathing. There is no patch in the floor at the
southeast end, suggesting that the fireplace and chimney were exterior.

Southeast log outbuilding

The southeast log outbuilding is a one-story, two-bay by one-bay plank log structure that is dovetailed at
the corners and is covered with some weatherboards fastened with cut nails. It has a rubble stone
foundation and a gable roof with corrugated metal and a northwest-southeast ridge. The log outbuilding
faces southwest toward the road, and is 19 feet, 4 inches from the kitchen ell. It is located 12 feet, 1 inch
from the bottom of the stairway to the kitchen ell, and is 41 feet away from the northwest log
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outbuilding. Both log outbuildings are in a line. The logs have mortar and pieces of wood for chinking
and are reused, with mortises and pegs and holes drilled in them. Some of the log faces are hewn while
othets are sawn, and some have irregular marks that appear to be from a pitsaw. The mortar chinking
has heavy whitewash, one early layer of which is a brick-red color. The southwest elevation has a door
set west of center that now has a pair of doors hung on strap hinges, and the pintles are set into logs
beyond the architrave. These doors swing out and have vertical boards with beads on the exterior and
horizontal boards with beads on the interior, The strap hinges are mostly tapered, with round ends,
though one is wide and square. There are strips of iron nailed onto the interior face of the door, though
it is not clear why. The architrave has a beaded interior edge and is face-nailed with T-headed nails.
The jamb boards are nailed to the log ends with large cut nails. The original door was hung on butt
hinges and swung in. The sill is concrete, and it is not possible to tell if the foundation was always
broken here, or has been opened up. The south bay has a window opening with new trim placed over
top of the old, and there is a vertical board shutter on butt hinges with pins; it is made with cut nails.
The sash is missing. There is a wood box cornice. On the southeast elevation, beneath the siding, is
plaster on riven lath with whitewash, but no evidence of a red layer of whitewash. The siding covers
where the fireplace opening originally was, and there is evidence of a foundation about 12 inches below
the current ground level. The gable end has a doorway set to the east, and it has a beaded-edge vertical-
board door. The northeast elevation has a window set north of center that has new trim and a vertical-
board shutter hung on butt hinges with two knuckles; the shutter is made with cut nails. The jamb
boards are nailed to the long log ends with cut spikes, and the sash is missing. The northwest elevation
does not have an opening, but the siding is patched in the gable end, to the north. The chinking below
the siding has a black layer that could be old tar, There are plain rake boards.

On the interior, the first story now has a stud and wafer board shed built inside it with space around the
shed on all four sides. There is a dirt floor. The southeast elevation has the remains of a brick fireplace
in the center, with splayed jambs and part of a splayed brick jack arch, though most of the jambs and
jack arch are now missing. There is brick infill that closes off the fireplace flush with the exterior of the
log outbuilding, much of the back of the fireplace having been taken down at an unknown date. There
are triangular wood brackets on each side of the opening, with cut nails holding them, and the brackets
support a wood shelf above that appears to be original. On either side of the fireplace is a “chair rail”
that is more like a low shelf, with a bull nose on the front edge and a fascia board above. This little shelf
projects out 3-3/4 inches, but is set at a chair rail height. Below this shelf on either side of the fireplace
is a brick wall that is only one wythe thick, with at least one large cut spike holding it to the logs.
Portions of this brick wall have come down, and there is no evidence of lath and plaster ever behind the
brick. The brick to the south of the fireplace is mostly gone. The rest of the log walls have diagonal
riven lath and plaster, and this same lath and plaster treatment is found above the shelf on the southeast,
as well. The window and door architrave have a backband that has a wide quirk with an ogee and bead,
and there is a beaded interior edge. The ceiling also has riven lath with plaster. The upper story has
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infilling for an opening for the stair in the north corner, though it appears to have riven lath on the
ceiling below, with plaster on the lath, The floor is tongue-and-groove random-width boards that run
northwest-southeast. There is plain sash-sawn baseboard fastened with cut nails in the upper story. The
knee-wall studs and collar beams have riven lath and plaster, as well. The rafters are mitered and butted
at the ridge. The rafters are 2-1/2 inches by 3-1/2 inches and are spaced 22 to 23 inches on centers.
Some are reused, some have hewn edges and others are sash-sawn; cut nails are used in the construction
of the roof frame. The only access to the upper story at this time is the door on the southeast gable end.
This door has beaded-edge, vertical boards with cast iron butt hinges, a wood stock lock, and a wrought
Suffolk latch on the exterior. There is plain head-cut trim. The southeast wall possibly had wood peg
rail. Written on the plaster on the southeast wall are “Lewis Toomey Mar, 23, 1935” and “Barbara

Toomey April 28, 1963.”

There is a spring that runs from the basement of the frame house on the southwest side of Furnace
Avenue to the northwest building, and there is a concrete cover for a pump and a concrete trough
between the two buildings. Water was piped to the basement of the house in terra cotta pipes, according
to Chef Dan Wecker. There was an icehouse northeast of the log outbuildings toward the river, but a
storm took it out apparently in 1932. Several hundred feet east of the brick buildings, built into the hill
along the edge of the river, is a stone wall that reportedly was part of the original furnace complex,

Frame House
Located on the southwest side of Furnace Avenue, and facing northeast toward it and the log

outbuildings, is a frame house that is 2 1/2 stories tall and three bays by two bays, with a two-story ell
on the southwest that is four bays by two bays, and a modern wing, in a T plan, attached to the southeast
side of the ell. The historic portions have a rubble stone foundation, wood shingle siding on the
northeast and weatherboards on the other elevations, and a gable roof with asphalt shingles, and a
northwest-southeast ridge on the main block and northeast-southwest ridge on the ell. There is an
interior brick chimney on the northwest gable end, and another in the center of the ell. The northeast
elevation has a doorway in the east bay of the first story with a three-light transom and a one-bay, onc-
story frame porch with a gable roof supported by four Greek Doric columns on tall plinths and a
rudimentary entablature. The other two bays have six over nine double hung sash with blinds. The
second story has three six over six double hung sash with blinds and a boxed comice, and there are two
gable-roofed dormers with six over six double hung sash and shingled cheek walls. The northwest
elevation of the main block has a six over nine double hung sash set in the west bay, with a six over six
double hung sash above it in the second story. There are no openings in the north bay or the gable end.
The ell has three six over nine double hung sash on the first story and three six over six double hung
sash on the second, with no opening in the west-center bay of both stories. The southwest elevation of
the ell has two windows on the first story and no openings on the second. The southeast gable end of the
main block has a six over nine double hung sash set in the east bay on the first story, no openings in the
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south bay or on the second story, and a six over six double hung sash in the gable end. The south bay of
the southwest elevation of the main block has been added to, and the roof pitch is flatter than on the
main block. The southeast elevation of the ell is mostly covered by the modern addition.

Race Road Brick Duplex
The brick duplex is located at 5735 Race Road, on the southeast side of the road, and faces northwest

toward the road. It is a two story, four-bay by two-bay brick structure of 5 to 1 common bond on both
stories, but the brick is different in color and appearance on the second story than it is on the first story.
Some of the brick is still covered with vinyl siding, especially on the northeast. There is a gable roof
with asphalt shingles and a northeast-southwest ridge, with a shallow pitch, and interior brick chimneys
on both gable ends. There is a two-story, two-bay by two-bay ¢ll centered on the rear, with vinyl siding
and a gable roof with asphalt shingles and a northwest-southeast ridge. There is a modern one-story,
shed-roofed frame addition to the southwest of the ell. The northwest elevation of the main block has
two center doors with one light over two panels, each with a two-light transom and a splayed brick jack
arch. To each side is a one-over-one sash with wood blinds and a splayed brick jack arch. The second
story has four shorter one-over-one sash with wood blinds. The box comice is covered with vinyl. The
southwest elevation has no openings on the first story. The second story has a one-over-one sash in the
south bay. The brickwork retains the ghost line of the pitch of the earlier roof of a 1 1/2-story building.
The southeast elevation of the main block is covered by the modemn addition on the first story and has no
opening on the second story. The southwest elevation of the ell is also covered by the modern addition
on the first story and has a one-over-one sash in the west bay of the second story. The southeast
elevation of the ell has two small one-light sash in the second story. The northeast elevation of the ell
has a door in the north bay of the first story and a one-over-one sash in the east bay of the second story.
The northeast elevation of the main block has no openings on the first story. The second story has a
one-over-one sash in the east bay.
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Period Areas of Significance Check and justify below
_ 1800-1699 __ agriculture ___ economics __ health/medicine __ performing arts
_1700-1799 __ archeology __ education X industry __ philosophy
__ 1800-1899 X architecture __ engineering __ invention __ politics/government
X 1900-1999 __art ___entertainment/ __landscape architecture __ religion
__2000- __ commerce recreation __law __ science
. communications __ ethnic heritage __ literature __ social history
__ community planning  __ exploration/ __ maritime history __ transportation
__ conservation setitement __ military __ other:
Specific dates N/A Architect/Builder N/A

Construction dates ¢, 1830s

Evaluation for:

National Register Maryland Register X nol evaluated

Prepare a one-paragraph summary statement of significance addressing applicable criteria, followed by a narrative discussion of the
history of the resource and its context. (For compliance projects, complete evaluation on a DOE Form ~ see manual.)

Summary:
Elk Ridge Landing was settled as early as the 1690s, and was an important commercial and shipping

entrep6t by 1755, the time that the Elk Ridge Furnace was founded by Alexander Lawson, Edward
Dorsey, and Caleb Dorsey, Jr. It has typically been assumed that the surviving brick buildings were part
of the furnace operation, and thus have traditionally been dated to the eighteenth century This error in
dating the structures was first pointed out by Peter Kurtze in his National Register nomination for the
property, and he dated both buildings stylistically to probably the 1830s and attributed theni to the then
owners of the furnace, the Ellicotts. These buildings were actually not part of the Elk Ridge Furnace
lands owned by the Dorseys. The two connected brick buildings near the river, along with the plank log
slave quarters adjoining them, the frame dwelling across the street, and the brick structure at 5735 Race
Road, were all part of the tract “Hanover” owned by Richard Cromwell and sold to John A. Ellicott,
Nathaniel E. Ellicott, Jonathan Ellicott, and Andrew Ellicott, Jr., the sons of Nathaniel Ellicott of
Andrew, in 1829. The deed notes that this parcel of land adjoins the furnace and mill race. The Elicott
family had experience with iron works from at least 1806 and eliminated the common use of slaves at
them. The Ellicotts reportedly leased the Elk Ridge Furnace in the early nineteenth century, and bought
it in the 1820s. After financial setbacks the Ellicotts sold the furnace in 1852 to Robert Howard, a
merchant of Baltimore City who already owned furnaces in Baltimore County. In 1858 Howard sold all
of his iron works to the Great Falls Iron Company. The flood of 1873 caused an explosion which
destroyed much of the furnace, and as far as is known, it was never put back into blast, The southeast
brick building, presumably the store, appears to have been constructed earlier than the house adjacent to
it, must date to c. 1825-1840, and most probably dates to c. 1830-35. The house would seem to date to
c. 1835, and the two were probably built within onlty a few years of each other. Also of great
significance are the two log plank structures alongside the kitchen ell of the brick house. These
buildings seem to date to the second quarter of the nineteenth century.

Significance:
Elk Ridge Landing was settled as early as the 1690s, and was an important commercial and shipping

entrept by 1755, the time that the Elk Ridge Furnace was founded by Alexander Lawson, Edward
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Dorsey, and Caleb Dorsey, Jr. The partners were able to acquire 100 acres through a writ of ad quod
damnum in 1755, and there were iron pigs later found with that date that came from the Elk Ridge
Furnace. At this time William Williams was the founder for the Dorseys, and slave labor provided both
muscle and skill to run the operation. The furnace was inherited by Caleb Dorsey’s two sons, Samuel
and Edward, in 1772, and Samuel died in 1777. The furnace has been famous for a long time because it
cast cannon and cannon balls during the Revolution. The furnace was described as being *“in good
order” in 1789, but was not included on Griffith’s map of Maryland published in 1794, and most telling,
is not listed in the 1798 Federal Direct Tax. When Joseph Scott published his observations on the region
from 1806 he noted that “there are large banks of iron ore between Baltimore City, and Elkridge
landing. Several furnaces and forges have been erected, and in operation for many years; but from the
scarcity of wood, they have for these some years past been discontinued.” The largest and most
valuable structure at Elk Ridge Landing in 1798 owned by Edward Dorsey was “1 old brick house 30 by
28 feet, 2 stories.” It has typically been assumed that the surviving brick buildings were part of the
furnace operation, and thus have traditionally been dated to the eighteenth century, though none of the
listed buildings in the tax record match the existing buildings. This error in dating the structures was
first pointed out by Peter Kurtze in his National Register nomination for the property, and he dated both
buildings stylistically to probably the 1830s and attributed them to the then owners of the furnace, the

Ellicotts.

These buildings were actually not part of the Elk Ridge Furnace lands owned by the Dorseys. Asis
evident on J. E. Dempster’s plat of Elkridge, the two connected brick buildings near the river, along with
the plank log slave quarters adjoining them, the frame dwelling across the street, and the brick structure
at 5735 Race Road, were all part of the tract “Hanover” owned by Richard Cromwell and sold to John
A. Ellicott, Nathaniel E. Ellicott, Jonathan Ellicott, and Andrew Ellicott, Jr., the sons of Nathaniel
Ellicott of Andrew, in 1829. The deed notes that this parcel of land adjoins the furnace and mill race.
Cromwell purchased the lot a day earlier from Charles Hopkins. He presumably received it from his
parents, Dr. Richard Hopkins and Hannah Hopkins, in 1824. This deed is for part of the tract
“Hanover,” but the deed does not give metes and bounds, only general outlines, so it is not possible to

! Celia M. Holland, Old Homes and Families of Howard County, Maryland (Author, 1987), pp. 3-8. Ronald W. Fuchs II,
“*At Elk Ridge Furneis As You See, William Williams He Mad Me”: The Story of an Eighteenth-Century Maryland Iron
Fumace.” Journal of Early Southern Decorative Aris (winter 1996): 40-59. John McGrain, “Molinography in Maryland,”
“Howard County, Elkridge Furnace,” typescript, Maryland Historical Society. Henry K. Sharp, The Patapsca River Valfey:
Cradle of the Industrial Revolution in Maryland. {Baltimore: Maryland Historical Society, 2001}, p. 27. Joseph Scott,
Geographical Description of the States of Maryland and Delaware. (Philadelphia: Kimber, Conrad, & Co., 1807), p. 81, in
Sharp, The Patapsco River Valley, p. 29. Maryland Gazette, 26 November 1789, p. 2, col. 2, quoted in Fuchs, “At Elk Ridge
Furneis,” p. 54. Sharp, The Patapsco River Valley, pp. 28-29. Federal Direct Tax, 1798, “Anne Arundel County,” Maryland
State Archives. Joetta Koppenhoefer, “Elk Ridge: The River, the Railroad, the Boulevard,” in Elk Ridge: A Bicentennial
Journal (June 1976): 3-4. Peter E. Kurtze “Elkridge Furnace Complex,” National Register of Historic Places Registration

Form, HO-367, 1989,
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match the one to the other. At the same time the Hopkins’s sold several other tracts to their other kids.
This land was not listed under Hopkins’s ownership in the 1798 tax, so presumably he acquired it later,
but it is not known when or how he did; he held at least part of “Hanover” by the early nineteenth
century, but the deed could not be found back to 1797. Whether part of the 1798 tax is missing, as has
been suggested by some because the furnace is not mentioned, is not clear, Dr, Hopkins did have
business interactions with the Dorseys, but while it is possible that the land adjoining the furnace was
leased to the furnace and built upon, there have been no records discovered that would suggest that this
happened. Before the Ellicotts had purchased this land, they bought just less than ten acres from Charles
Hopkins in two tracts, in 1825. The deed described the smaller of the two tracts as “being two perches
wide for the purpose of digging a canal or head race,” then went on to stipulate: “also the full and free
right of waste ways from the said canal or race to discharge surplus water in times of freshets at any
points or places most convenient to said Ellicotts as also to make partial deviations in the construction of
said canal from the above described courses taking care to occupy only the aforesaid two perches in
width.” This would be the race mentioned in the deeds for the tract with the brick house and store,

running along present-day Race Road.?

The Ellicott family had experience with iron works from at least 1806, when they built an iron rolling
and slitting mill, and nail-making factory, on the east bank of the Patapsco River, just above their grist
mill at Ellicott’s Lower Mills. In 1815 Nathaniel EHicott and Company purchased Dorsey’s Forge,
which became the Avalon Company, and it, too, ran a rolling and slitting mill and manufactured nails.
This operation had been run by slave labor, but the Ellicotts reportedly eliminated the use of slaves here,
and presumably did elsewhere, too. This would not be surprising, given that they were Quakers and
Quakers had generally opposed slave ownership. This has implications for the interpretation of some
buildings at the Elkridge Fumnace Complex. Alexander Ellicott and Brothers reportedly leased the Elk
Ridge Furnace in the early nineteenth century, bought it in the 1820s, and rebuilt the furnace in 1826.
This was apparently the furnace that was described in John Alexander’s report on iron manufacturing,
published in 1840. He wrote:

In 1826, the Elkridge furnace was erected by Andrew Ellicott, Jr. and Brothers, near Elkridge landing.
The furnace is thirty-two feet high, with boshes of eight and a half feet. The blast is driven by water
from the Patapsco, and is carried into the furnace by one tuyere.

The ore occurs in the vicinity; and I believe the position of the race for the water wheel is favourable
[sic] for the transportation of some considerable quantity. It is of the same character with the ores all
along the western verge of the Chesapeake.

2 Howard County Land Records, WSG 15-52. Charles W, Evans, Biographical and Historical Accounis of the Fox, Ellicott,
and Evans Families {Buffalo, NY: Baker, Jones & Co., 1882), p. 80. Howard County Land Records, WSG 15-70, WSG 10-
64. 1. D. Watfield, Founders of Anne Arundel and Howard Counties, Maryland (Baltimore: Kohn & Pollock, 1905), p. 483.
Howard County Land Records, WSG 11-509,
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The duration of the blast is from nine to ten months: and the average annual product, which has been
stated to me at 1400 tons, is almost entirely produced in castings of various kinds, principally water and
gas pipes. The iron is of good quality; and I have had occasion to notice the advantage of its being
mixed with some other pig to produce castings of the second fusion, in which the maximum of stiffness
and tenacity was desirable.

This establishment gives occupation to at least 100 hands, and 50 horses, mules, and oxen.

Though the denuded hills along the Patapsco would have been replenished with second-growth timber in
20 to 30 years, the scarcity of wood for charcoal must have remained a problem, and the Ellicotts
probably overcame it by bringing charcoal in first by boat and later by railroad. The location of the
Elkridge furnace made both alternatives possible, which likely kept the works in operation for longer
than some other furnaces. The Ellicotts reportedly made cast iron pipe for the Croton Water Works in
New York in 1835, Judging from the 1860 map, the race was actually taking water from Deep Run
before it entered the Patapsco. The mention of its use for transporting iron ore is of interest, as will be
noted below. Ellicott and Brothers holdings were assessed at $48,000 in 1841. In 1842 the furnace was
seeking to employ a wheelwright. The furnace, which was valued by the tax assessor at $40,000 in
1850, had 12 employees and was using both charcoal and anthracite for fuel, and oyster shells for flux.
According to Alexander, in 1840 most of Maryland’s iron furnaces used oyster shells, primarily because
their location made it convenient. The output for the previous year had been 2,400 tons of cast iron
pipe, valued at $96,000, and 2,000 tons of pig iron, valued at $30,000.°

In 1838 John and Andrew Ellicott, trading as Ellicott & Brothers, mortgaged their furnace property and
associated lands to Nathaniel H. Ellicott, Jonathan H. Ellicott, and Benjamin H. Ellicott to secure a
promissory note of $50,000. By 1844 they had defaulted, owing $45,000, and reached an agreement
with their creditors that the property could be sold, but that the sale would not be enforced for twelve
years, provided that Ellicott and Brothers fulfilled the obligations of a payment schedule set up as part of
the agreement. The personal property that was part of the furnace operation was also used to secure the
mortgage, and it was itemized, giving one an idea of what the furnace operation looked like. It included:

* Sharp, The Patapsco River Valley, p. 29. Jean R. Soderlund, Qnakers and Slavery: A Divided Spirit. (Princeton, NJ, 1985).
A. Glenn Crothers, “Quaker Merchants and Slavery in Early National Alexandria, Virginia: The Ordeal of William
Hartshome.” Journal of the Early Republic 25, no. 1 (spring 2005): 47-77. A. H, Alexander, Report on the Manufacture of
Iron (Annapolis, 1840): p. 90, McGrain, “The Molinography of Maryland.” Johns Hopkins University faculty, et al,
Maryland, Its Resources, Industries and Institutions. (Baltimore, 1893), p. 105, in McGrain, “The Molinography of
Maryland.” Fuchs, “At Elk Ridge Furneis,” p. 54. Howard County Commissioners, Transfer Book, 1841-51, Maryland State
Archives. Baltimore Sun, 13 Qctober 1842, p. 3. J. H. Alexander, Report on the Manufucture of Iron, {Annapolis, 1840), pp.
90-91, 172, noted in McGrain, “The Molinography of Maryland.” John McGrain states that J. Barker and Sons operated the
furnace in 1840, but I believe that this is a misreading of Alexander’s report. Simon J. Martenet, Martenet s Map of Howard
County, Maryland (Baltimore, 1860).
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Three mule teams of six mules to each team, with the hamess therefore and wagons, . . . ten mules for
carts and ten carts, one dray, one large bay horse, one small riding horse, one wagon, four ore boats in
the race, two tow boats on the river, one steam boat called the “Western” together with her anchors,
boats, cable, tackle, apparel and appurtenances, . . . bridles, saddles, harness and stable furniture, one
carriage and harness, all the iron and wooden flasks of every description, all the pipe and pipe branch
patterns of every size, cog wheels and machine patterns of every description, all the wheelbarrows,
blacksmith tools, bellows, turning lathe, coal baskets, furnace tools of every kind, all the coaling ground
tools, mine bank tools, and all other tools belonging to or used with or at the mine banks, coaling
grounds, and Elk Ridge Furnace, or any appurtenance thereto. Also the lead pipe machine, and proving
machine for proving pipe, also all the scraps of iron or other metal cylinders, castings, and all other cast
or wrought iron at said furnace, . . . all the anthracite coal, iron ore, wood at said furnace, or cut down to
be used there, all the oyster shells, all the bituminous coal, all the wood cut in the woods, all the lumber
and stamp iron, and also all the goods, wares, and merchandize in the store at said furnace . . . .

It was noted that the steam boat was used to run to Baltimore City, where there was a warehouse that
stored many of the products of the furnace, and that there were ore banks in Baltimore and Anne
Arundel counties. The latter may have been located to the west of Elkridge, north of the railroad line
and east of Hanover Road, where an iron ore bank is shown on the 1878 Hopkins atlas, though its owner
is not listed. The presence of four ore boats on the race gives credence to Alexander’s observation of
several years earlier, noted above, that ore was transported on the race, and the quarry near Hanover
would have been very close to the race, and thus convenient for shipping purposes, regardless of who

owned the quarry.4

Despite their best efforts, Ellicott & Brothers were apparently fighting a losing battle. Tn 1847 they
advertised some of their land for sale, but in February 1850 a correspondent from Elkridge Landing
wrote to the Ellicott City newspaper:

The crisis has at last arrived. About three weeks since the ‘hands’ at Elkridge Furnace refused to work
any longer, under the system that has been pursued for the past few months, and this week we have
received the announcement of the failure of the surviving partner of the Messrs. Ellicott and Brothers,
The condition of many families in this village is now truly distressing. In the dead of winter thrown out
of employment, without money, not being able to obtain their arrearages of wages, and no immediate
prospect of getting employment. Very few of the blast furnaces in the neighborhood of Baltimore are
now in operation. The effects of the failure of Messrs. Ellicott will be severely felt throughout a large
portion of the surrounding neighborhood. This place has been the market for nearly the whole overplus
productions of the country for many miles around, and all are interested in the continuance of operations

# Union Bank of Maryland v. Andrew Ellicott, et al. Maryland State Chancery Court, case 11637, 25 July 1844, For iron
production, see Robert B. Gordon, dmerican Iron, 1607-1900 (Baltimore: The Johns Hopkins University Press, 1996), G, M.
Hopkins, Atlas of Howard County, Maryland (Philadelphia, 1878).
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at the furnace. At present, a small force are occupied on a job, that will give but short employment to
them. There are various rumors and surmises with regard to the future operations of the furnace. They
are of course but conjectures.

This documents the economic importance of the furnace to the agriculture of the region. An arsonist set
the pattern house, containing the wood patterns used in casting iron objects such as the pipe that seems
to have been the bread and butter of the operation, on fire in March. An earlier author has suggested the
possibility of labor unrest that led to this action.’

Two months later the furnace and around 700 acres of land was offered for sale at auction, and described
simply as “the Elkridge Furmnace and Foundry, with all its appurtenances, consisting of store, dwelling,
stabling, &c.” It was purchased by the Union Bank of Maryland for $25,000. A year later the bank was
offering the property either for sale, if possible, or rent, if they could find no buyer. This time, the
furnace was described in more detail:

Attached to this furnace are about 750 acres of land (of which 200 acres are arable) containing several
valuable iron ore banks, from one of which the ore can be water-borne to the foundry. About the
furnace, and on the premises, there have been erected some thirty-five substantial dwelling houses and
other buildings, including a large brick mansion, store and double frame dwelling house, capable of
accommodating comfortably 25 to 30 families. The Patapsco is navigable to the works. The above
property possesses great advantages in the abundance, cheapness and proximity of the ores, the water
power, which is valuable and is used in the works, and in the easy access to Baltimore by the turnpike,
railroad and Patapsco River.

Judging from the 1860 map, most of the workers housing was located along both sides of Furnace
Avenue, to the east of the mansion and store; none of the buildings in this location survive. In
November of 1852 the bank finally found a buyer, Robert Howard, a merchant and city council member
of Baltimore City. Howard already owned the Locust Grove Furnace in Essex, which he had acquired
by the 1840s, and bought Nottingham Forge on the Great Gunpowder Falls in Baltimore County in 1845
and the Gunpowder Furnace the following year. Howard put the furnace back into blast in April 1853,
but for unknown reasons did not want to continue operations there. By October 1854 he was offering
for rent “the foundry with three cupola furnaces at Elk Ridge Landing, and all the necessary appendages
consisting of patterns, flasks &c., sufficient for making water pipe of all sizes, on an extensive scale.”
The cupola furnaces were used to melt cast iron, which then would have been cast using the patterns on
hand. They were cylindrical iron stacks lined with refectory brick, and tended to be taller and narrower
than the traditional stone furnace stack. Given that there was not a high hill at the Elkridge furnace from
which to load the top of the furnace, the switch to cupola furnaces probably also necessitated the

* Baltimore Sun, 11 May 1847, p. 3. Ellicott City (Maryland) Howard Gazette and General Advertiser, 23 February 1830,
Howard County Historical Society, vertical file. Koppenhoefer, “Elk Ridge” p. 4. Howard Gazette, 2 March 1850, in Sharp,
The Patapsco River Valley, p. 30.
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adoption of elevators to hoist the iron ore, coal and oyster shell {flux to the top of the furnace. The blast
furnace was reportedly rebuilt at this time as a steam and hot-blast furnace, and the stack was 32 feet
high and 9 1/2 feet wide at the boshes.®

In 1858 Howard sold all of his iron works to the Great Falls Iron Company, which had been
incorporated as early as 1846, but apparently had not been active until just recently. Elk Ridge Furnace
sold for $71,000, and the entire expenditure for all of the operations was reportedly $250,000. Howard
served on the board of directors, and the president was James H. Brown. The furnace had gone out of
blast in the autumn of 1857 and was expected to be put back into blast in May of 1859. The 1860
Martenet Map of Howard County shows what appears to be the existing large brick house that was
probably also the “mansion house” mentioned in the earlier advertisement. To the southeast of it stood
the furnace, very close to the Patapsco River, and there were numerous other buildings in the vicinity
that were not identified. The owner is listed as the Great Falls Iron Co., and “T. H. Brown” is also noted
here. He was likely the iron master or site manager at the time. During the Civil War the furnace was
leased to Brooks and Moore, and afterward was operated by James P. Ellicott and Howard Brown up to

1872.7

Though the furnace operation had struggled to survive since at least the 1840s, it was a natural disaster
that ultimately spelled its doom. The furnace property was probably damaged by the great flood of 1868
that destroyed houses and mills from Sykesville down to Elkridge and claimed 43 lives, but the flood of
1873 caused greater damage in Elkridge. It was reported:

At Ellicott’s smelting furnace the water rose so rapidly that the furnaces were inundated, causing a
terrific explosion, shattering the greater portion of the building and killing two men who were attending
the furnaces. The explosion was occasioned by the water surrounding a blast containing several tons of
moulten [sic] iron, and the sudden action of the water upon the heated mass generated steam so suddenly
that an explosion similar in effect to that of a steam boiler occurred. The damage done the miil by the
water and explosion will amount to many thousands of dollars.

Another report added that “. . . the gas being ignited the building caught from the flames and was
seriously damaged.” The 1878 Hopkins Atlas gives the same arrangement as in 1860, and notes that the
brick house was a residence. As far as is known, the furnace was never put back into blast, though in

® Baltimore American, 3 April 1850, p. 3, col. 1. McGrain, “The Molinography of Maryland.” Baltimore American, 4 April
1850, p. 3, col. 8. Baltimore American, 18 April 1851, p. 2, col. 5. Baltimore Sun, 15 May 1865, p. 4, col. 2. Howard
County Land Records, WHW 17-68. John W. McGrain, From Pig fron fo Cotton Duck: A History of Manufucturing Villages
in Baltimore County. (Towson, MD: Baltimore County Public Library, 1985), pp. 32, 190. Baltimore Sun, 15 April 1853, p.
4. Baltimore American, 2 Qctober 1854, p. 3, col. 5, in McGrain, “The Molinography of Maryland.” Martenet, Map of
Howard County, 1860. Gordon, American fron, p. 17.

" Baltimore Sun, S January 1846, p. 4. Baltimore Sun, 30 March 1858, p. 1. Baltimore Sun, 19 April 1859, p. 4. Martenet,
Map of Howard County, 1860. McGrain, “The Molinography of Maryland.”
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1880 a business directory called it Thomas Brown’s iron furnace. The Great Falls Iron Company sold
the property to Robert H. Brown in 1887. The furnace was reportedly dismantled in 1903 to salvage the
bricks, and at present only a portion of a stone retaining wall survives along the river. However, several
domestic structures remain from the complex. They were owned for much of the twentieth century by
the Toomey family, and are now owned by the State of Maryland. They were renovated by Chef Dan
Wecker and operate as the Elkridge Furnace Inn.®

The southeast building, presumably the store, appears to have been constructed earlier than the house
adjacent to it. This is suggesied by three features. First, it appears that the store brickwork is pointed up
and the house brickwork is not, though the crack through which this can be seen is very small.
Secondly, the front wall of the house has Queen closers set at the corner against the store, rather than set
one brick in from the corner, the way it was done at the opposite front corner. Closers disrupt the
appearance of Flemish bond brickwork, so getting them to the corner would be preferred for visual
reasons. However, the reason for setting Queen closers further back in the wall is to keep them from
popping out, which generally takes precedence over aesthetics. Putting them at the comer here suggests
that it was not an issue because they were up against the earlier store building. Finally, a hole cut
through the store, just above the second story floor on the northwest (house) side has exposed the ends
of floor joists in the house, one of which abuts the brick wall of the store, and the other stops about 1
inch short of the wall. These would never have been so close to an exterior wall because the end grain
would have soaked up water and quickly rotted, unless they projected through to support some kind of
roof, The likelihood of that is very small.

The store has had some significant changes to it, with walls and stairways removed. However, the first
floor plan can be fairly well reconstructed, and had a center passage, double pile plan with two large
unheated rooms to the front and two smaller heated rooms to the rear. The southwest doorway, facing
the road, originally had double doors and was the primary entrance, but the stairway did not begin near
this front door. Rather, it began at the rear of the passage, the way the present stair does. Also, the trim
used around the two front rooms is simpler than that for the back two rooms and the upstairs rooms, and
the upper story joists were exposed and beaded, rather than covered by a plaster ceiling. Exposed joists
would be unusual in a domestic space in Howard County in the nineteenth century (outside of a slave
quarter). Store rooms were typically not heated in the eighteenth and first half of the nineteenth
centuries, so the lack of fireplaces in the large rooms is consistent with this use. Also, the south room
had a hatch in the floor to get access to the basement, presumably to hoist things up. Whether the west

8 Baltimore Sun, 15 August 1873, p. 1, col. 3. Towson Maryland Journal, 23 August 1873, p. 3, col. 4-5. in McGrain, “The
Molinography of Maryland.” Hopkins, Atlas of Howard County,1878. McGrain, “The Molinography of Maryland.” Johns
Hopkins University faculty, et al, Maryland, Its Resources, Industries and Institutions. (Baltimore, 1893), p. 105, in
McGrain, “The Molinography of Maryland.”



Maryland Historical Trust
Maryland Inventory of Inventory No. HO-367
Historic Properties Form

Name
Continuation Sheet

Number _8 Page 8

room also had this could not be determined at this time, but the implication for the south room is that it
clearly did not have a domestic function. And its function was meant to be segregated from the second
story, so the stairway was turned around opposite to the arrangement in most houses, Even in the
passage the trim differs between the front and back rooms, suggesting the possibility that there was a
doorway dividing the passage, to help control privacy and circulation.

The exact use of these back rooms is not clear, but the north room, which connects to the house, would
most likely have been an office for the store and furnace manager. The connection to the house appears
to have been made not when the house was built, but some time later, since the doorway does not align
with the rest of the doorways in the passage and the architrave is similar, but not the same. The other
small rear room has its own exterior door, on the side facing the furnace, and may have been built as the
original office. The joists overhead have been hacked back, removing most of the beads, apparently to
even them out before lathing and plastering. The second story floor plan was reversed from the first
story, with smaller unheated rooms to the front and larger rooms with fireplaces to the rear. Just what
the function of these were is not clear. The mantels here are original and have slightly Greek profiles to
some of the mouldings, and bull’s-eyes on the imposts, features that are consistent with the 1820s and
1830s. The slender turned newel posts and ramped handrails are also consistent with this period. The
brickwork on the front is five-to-one common bond, which is more common after 1840, but has been
observed in Baltimore as early as 1809. Thus, considering all the features together, and the fact that the
Ellicotts bought the land in 1829 (though they could have contracted for the purchase years earlier and
started construction then) this building must date to ¢. 1825-1840, and most probably to ¢. 1830-35,

The house is a side-passage, double-pile plan with a kitchen ell, and has finishes of a very high order.
The pressed brick front, with thin “buttered” joints, is first found in Baltimore in the late 1830s, The
double parlor has large hinged doors separating identical halves, rather than the pocket doors that
became much more common in the 1850s and *60s. The marble mantels are trabeated, not arched, and
have symmetrical architrave and paneled imposts, features typical of the late 1820s, *30s and *40s. The
architrave is all symmetrical, with corner blocks that have patera. The use of patera is unusual, and a
more refined treatment than bull’s-eyes. Though corner blocks can be found in the 1810s, they are more
common in the *20s and remain so for a long time. The ceiling plasterwork, at the edge of the cornice, is
treated in a similar manner. The ceiling medallions rely heavily on run plaster mouldings, but those in
the passage have some cast foliage that suggests early Greek Revival, of the 1820s or *30s. The simpler
double bead mouldings were a common treatment, especially in the 1830s and *40s, The stairway,
however, has turned tiger maple balusters that follow the curtail at the bottom, and the railings are
curved at the landings, eliminating newel posts and ramps there. These features are rare before 1830,
except among the best Baltimore houses. There is labeled hardware throughout the house, especially
“Thomas Clark” hinges that are typically dated to the 1840s, though little is known about the company
or its products. There are also hinges labeled “FE T & C that have not been observed elsewhere in
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Maryland, to my knowledge. Mature cut nails were used where original framing is now visible, and date
the building to after 1820.

An interesting feature of the passage is the original louvered door under the landing, which enabled the
passage to be open for air movement in warm weather, but screened off the activity at the back from the
family and their guests at the front. Another unusual feature is the exterior door in the side wall of the
passage, which is also original and must have been placed there for the manager to get from the house to
the furnace directly. Similarly, the side door on the second story passage is even more unusual, but is
also original. Whether it was for the same purpose, or was meant as some sort of early fire escape, is not
known. The placement of the fireplaces on the interior wall is unusual, but enables more window space
on the exterior wall. Another significant detail is the Diocletian window in the gable end of the attic
(facing the town, not the furnace, where visitors would see it). This can be found on the 1831 tavern at
Great Falls, on the Chesapeake and Ohio Canal, but is rather rare on houses in Maryland. The roof was
altered, probably in the late nineteenth century, by the addition of a gabled dormer on the front, clipped
gables, and wider overhanging eaves. Much of the roof framing, however, scems to be original, and the
rafters are mitered and butted at the ridge. This construction would be rare before 1840. Conversely,
the pilasters on the side porch are Federal in style and would be expected to pre-date 1820, or so. The
iron fireback in the kitchen, made by the Ellicotts and dated 1833, provides a reasonable starting date for
the construction of the house, though this could have been added at any time; it is documented as being
here in the 1970s. Thus, given the date ranges of various features of the house, which was built all in
one period and has had few alterations since, this building would seem to date to ¢. 1835. Differences
between the finishes of the store and the house probably reflect their differing functions, not their period
of construction. As Peter Kurtze indicated, the two were probably built within only a few years of each

other.

In an undated report on Elkridge, Isabel Eney noted that blacks “were employed in the Elkridge blast
furnace and resided there in company houses. Many of these homes were apparently along Race Road
(which followed the mill race that powered the furnace bellows, among other things) and were later sold
to black families in the area. Many of these houses are now gone, but the brick house at 5735 Race
Road, though altered, is a good example of worker housing from the nineteenth century. Just who
occupied it is not known.”

Also of great significance are the two log plank structures alongside the kitchen ell of the brick house.
They have dovetailed corners because the logs used are only 3 inches thick and dovetails are the
strongest corner joint available for any log walls, especially ones so thin. The logs are reused timbers
from a frame structure, and were cut down after being salvaged. The size and construction of the

? Isabel Eney, “Elkridge Landing,” typescript, n.d. Enoch Pratt Free Library, Maryland Departient, vertical file, “Elkridge.”
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buildings are typical for slave quarters, but also for other outbuildings. The openings on the southeast
gable end of each indicate that there were fireplaces in both of these buildings that no longer survive,
which limits their function either to living space or cooking/laundry or similar domestic work space
needing a fire. With a cooking space, one would expect a wood or brick floor, but indications are that
both buildings originally had dirt floors, because the foundation of one of the buildings is missing at the
doorway and appears to have finished ends, not stone that has been broken through. The other has had
this space filled with concrete, which is perhaps suggestive, but was not examinable for conclusive
evidence. Dirt floors were common for slave quarters up until the second quarter of the nineteenth
century, The presence of stairways in both buildings, originally, suggests living space rather than other
functions, though the two could be combined. - The southeast structure had a brick veneer half wall on
the fireplace end, with a shelf just above it, and this seems to be a domestic finish treatment. So, too,
does the simple mantel shelf set over what remains of the fireplace here. This building also has
plastered walls and ceilings, and its location closest to the house almost certainly signifies the social
importance of the inhabitants relative to those in the other building.

These buildings seem to date to the second quarter of the nineteenth century (the roof framing is built
with mature cut nails), and given their location, must relate to the brick house. They seem to have been
placed consciously; the distance from the brick house stairs to the first cabin is just over 12 feet (not
counting the missing chimney), and the distance between the two is 41 feet, or the length of one cabin
(16 feet, 5 inches, again not counting the missing chimney) plus just over 12 feet between each, as if
there was a third building here, once. Archaeology would help to answer this question, and locate the
missing chimneys, as well. Also of note is the roughcasting on the southeast gable end wall of the
southeast building, only. Given its proximity to the house, it would seem that this wall was given a finer
finish to improve the appearance of the building from the house. The whitewash here would contrast
significantly with what appears to be tar on the opposite gable end, a common treatment for preserving
exposed wood that was cheaper than paint. Dressing up the public face was done both with slave
quarters and other outbuildings.

The fact that the Ellicotts did not use slave labor at other ironworks, and presumably not at Elkridge,
either, however, argues that these were not quarters. It could be coincidence that earlier quarters were
located here, or the brick house could have been built on part of the foundation of an earlier house.

Also, these buildings do not seem fo be much earlier than the brick house, if at all. Tt would not be
vnusual to move these buildings and change their function, but this does not seem to have been the case
here, since the southwest structure retains part of its large fireplace. While the fireplace could have been
moved with the log structure, one must question why it would have, given its secondary character and
changing function. The other possibility is that these were built as slave quarters by a tenant who was
leasing the iron works from the Ellicotts, though it is not certain that anyone did lease the works. There
is little documentation on the Ellicotts operation of the works, but many furnaces were periodically
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leased to other operators, including Elkridge Furnace, which the Ellicotts leased from the Dorseys before
they purchasing it. While the Ellicotts may not have liked leasing to someone who used slave labor,
given their financial troubles they may have had no choice if they could not lease the furnace to an
operator who would not use slave labor. Archaeology could potentially help to explain the changing
function of these buildings, too. Regardless, log plank structures are a building type that was very
common in the antebellum landscape of Howard County, but is now very rare.

The frame house across the street from the brick house and store probably dates to the same period, but
it was not examined due to time constraints. It should be examined thoroughly. The brick workers
duplex on Race Road underwent substantial changes in the late nineteenth century, being raised to two
stories and having a wing put on the back, and the partition wall opened up to make it a single family
house. There is little with which to date the building, but it, too, probably dates to the 1830s and
deserves further investigation. The site of the furnace operation could also be rich in archaeological

potential.
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HO-0367 2009-03-30 01
Southwest elevation

HO-0367_2009-03-30 02
Southwest elevation, southeast section
front door

HO-0367_2009-03-30 03
Southwest elevation, northwest section
front door

HO-0367 2009-03-30 04
Northwest elevation

HO-0367 2009-03-30_05
Southeast elevation, northwest section
porch pilaster

HO-0367_2009-03-30 06
Northeast elevation, southeast section

HO-0367_2005-03-30_07
Northwest section passage, view
northeast

HO-0367_2009-03-30_08

Northwest section passage, small ceiling

medallion

HO-0367_2009-03-30_09

Northwest section passage, large ceiling

medallion

HO-367

Elkridge Furnace Complex
5741-45 Furnace Avenue, Elkridge
Howard County, Maryland

Ken Short, photographer

HO-0367_2009-03-30_10
Northwest section passage, corner block

HO-0367_2009-03-30 11
Northwest section passage, newel

HO-0367 2009-03-30_12
Northwest section double parlor, view
east

HO-0367 2009-03-30 13
Northwest section double parlor, ceiling
medaliton

HO-0367_2009-03-30_14
Northwest section double parlor, mantel

HO-0367_2009-03-30_15
Northwest section double parlor, ceiling
cornice

HO-0367 _2009-03-30 16
West chamber mantel

HO-0367_2009-03-30 17
Southeast section, east room mantel

HO-0367 _2009-03-30 18
Southeast section, east chamber, view
cast



HO-0367_2009-03-30 19
Southeast section, attic stair newel &
railing

HO-0367_2009-03-30 20
Southeast slave quarter, southwest &
southeast elevations

HO-0367_2009-03-30 21
Southeast slave quarter, southeast &
northeast elevations

HO-0367_2009-03-30 22
Southeast slave quarter, north corner
dovetails

HO-0367_2009-03-30 23
Northwest slave quarter, northwest &
southwest elevations

HO-0367_2009-06-01 01
Southeast elevation, southeast section

HO-0367_2009-06-01 02
Frame house, northeast & northwest
elevations

HO-0367 2009-06-01 03
Frame house, southeast elevation

HO-0367_2009-06-0 1 04
Race Road house, northwest elevation

HO-0367_2009-06-01_05
Race Road house, southeast & northeast
elevations

HO-367

Elkridge Furnace Complex
5741-45 Furnace Avenue, Elkridge
Photo Log, p. 2
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HO-367 ELK RIDGE FURNACE HOUSE AND STORE 5741-45 FURNACE ROAD, ELKRIDGE

A

NOTES:

A. HANDICAP RAMP NOT SHOWN.,

B. FIREPLACE FRAMED OUT AND COVERED WiTH DRYWALL.

C. MODERN STAIR,

D. MODERN WOOD STAIRS.

E. BILCO DOORS COVER ORIGINAL/EARLY OPENING WITH GRANITE
FACING.

F. GHOST ON FLOOR OF EARLIER PARTITION, PARTIALLY HIDDEN
BY BAR AT PRESENT.

G. ORIGINAL DOUBLE DOCRS INFILLED AND CONVERTED TO
SINGLE DOOR.

H. CELLAR ENTRANCEWAY REBUILT/RECONFIGURED -- NOT
SHOWN.

I. CRANE.

J. APPROXIMATE LOCATION OF HATCH IN FLOOR.

M |
@ 0l 2345 1o 20 FEET

FIRST FLOOR PLAN -- MEASURED BY KEN SHORT AND BRUCE ALEXANDER -- DRAWN BY KEN SHORT -- FEBRUARY 2009




LONGITUDINAL SECTICN

NOTES:

A REFLECTED CEILING STAIR
OPENING. MODERN STAIR NOT
SHOWN.

B. EARTHEN FLOOR.

C. FIREPLACE CPENING.

D. SILLS ON NORTHEAST AND
SOUTHWEST WALLS ONLY.

FOUNDATIONS EXPOSED ON ALL
FOUR WALLS.

NORTHWEST LOG QUTBUILDING

HO-367 ELKRIDGE FURNACE COMPLEX 5741-45 FURNACE AVENUE, ELKRIDGE

NOTES:

A. SPACING OF ELEVATIONS AND PLANS ISTO

SCALE

NOTES:

A. LATER DOCRS AND WINDOW
SHUTTER NOT SHOWN.

8. CURRENT ROOFING IS
CORRUGATED METAL,

C. LOGS REUSED. MORTISES
AND BRILL HOLES NOT SHOWN.

0. SCUTH CORNER DOVETAILS
HIDDEN BY CORNERBOARD.

NOTES:

A. REMAINS OF ORIGINAL/EARLY
BRICK VENEER.

B. BRICK INFILL BETWEEN
SURVIVING FRAGMENTS OF
FIREPLACE JAMBS.

€. MODERN CONCRETE STEPS &
INFILL NOT SHOW.

PLAN

20FT

| ——
[
f [y
(O—
e :t:::
|
| E—
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’ B. FIREPLACE JAMBS PARTIALLY SURVIVE,
WITH BRICK INFILL BETWEEN.
€. FOUNDATION EXPOSED ON INTERIOR.
1 SHELF ALONG SOUTHEAST WALL WITH
ORIGINAL/EARLY BRICK VENEER BELOW.
’\ D. INTERIOR WALLS AND CEILING HAVE
o DIAGONAL RIVEN LATH WITH PLASTER.
£. MODERN CONCRETE STEPS & INFILL

NOT SHOWN.

SOUTHEAST LOG OUTBUILDING

LOG OUTBUILDINGS -- MEASURED BY KEN SHORT, BRUCE ALEXANDER, THOMAS REINHART, AND JONATHAN SAGER -- DRAWN BY KEN SHORT - DECEMBER 2008-APRIL 2009
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1. Name of Property

historic name Elkridge Furnace Complex
other names/site number HO-367
2. Location e
street & number 5730 & 5741-5745 Furnace Ave., 5735 Race Road N/A_]not for publication
city, town Elkridge N/A_| vicinity
stato Marvland code MD county code 027 2lp code 21227
3. Classification
Ownership of Property Category of Property Number of Resources within Property
private buliding(s) Contributing Noncontributing
public-local district 5 bulldings
public-State site sites
public-Federal structure structures
object objects
6 0 Total
Name of related multiple property listing: Number of contributing rescurces previously
N/A listed In the National Register 0

4. State/Federal Certification

In my pipion. the,p

As the designated authority under the National Historic Preservation Act of 1968, as amended, | hereby certify that this
(] nomination [ request for determination of eligibllity meets the documentation standards for registering properties in the
National Register of Historic Places and meets the procedural and professional requirements set forth in 38 CFR Part 80,

EMDMMMWNIWWM.D“W

J// /S To

of certitying official

STATE HISTORIC PRESERVATION OFFICER

Date 7/

State or Federal agency and bureau

In my opinion, the property Dm«m not meet the National Register criteria. Dsu continuation sheet.

Signature of commanting or other official

Date

State or Federa! agency and bureau

5. National Park Service Certification

I, , cortify that this property is;

entered in the National Register,
D See continuation sheet

oTncle. Ands b)se) 90

[ determined eligible for the National
Register. [ Ses continuation sheet

[Jdetermined not etigible for the
National Register.

romoved from the National Register.

other, (explain:)

«M‘lﬂmoﬁmw Date of Action



6. Function or Use HO-367

Hﬁqpcquﬂun(unnc:noquiunknmwﬁun) Current Functions (enter categories from instructions)
DOMESTIC/single dwallin VACANT/not in use
-"‘Taﬁ-

TIC/institﬂtigal ousing
X COMMEREE TRADE/o e
I

NDUSTRY/PROCESSING/EXTRACTION/manufacturing facility

7. 210434
Am::::gqudﬁ:&m Materials (enter categories from instructions)
(enter categories from instructions)
foundation __ brick
Federal walls brick
—Creck Revival
roo! asphalt
other wood

Describo present and historic physical appearance.
DESCRIPTION SUMMARY:

The Flkridge Furnace Complex comprises the six remaining
buildings of an iron Furnace which operated from the 18th century
into the 1860s. Included are a large and refined 2 1/2 story side
passage double-pile Pederal/Greek Revival house, the residence of
the furnace owner, constructed ca. 1825; a frame dwelling of
approximately the same date which probabhly accommodated a manager or
clerk; a 2 1/2 story, S-bay center-passage company store and hotel
or dormitory for furnace workers; two nineteenth century 14' x 16
nlank outhuildings, possibly slave quartere; and a mid-19th century
brick duplex worker's dwelling. The complex retains a high degree
of integrity.

[¥]See continuation sheet for
GENERAL DESCRIPTION
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GENERAL DESCRIPTION:

Owner's Residence, ca. 1835

Located on the north side of Furnace Avenue, between the road and the
Patapsco River, the main house is a large 2 1/2 story brick side-passage

double-pile dwelling with a two story kitchen wing. The principal (south)
facade is laid in Flemish bond with extremely fine mortar joints and gauged
brick jack arches. The south facade i{s three bays wide, with the entrance in
the east bay. This entrance features fine transitional Federal-Green Revival
detailing, and consists of double leaf doors with five panels each, flanked by
narrow sidelights within a broad architrave. The door panels are recessed
with Grecian ovolo panel molds. The sidelights have oval leaded tracery.
The architrave is unmolded, except for a heavy Grecian ovolo at the edge of
the jamb; the strips between the jamb and sidelights terminate in faceted
corner blocks.

The other openings on both the first and second stories hold large 6/6
sash windows with half-round molded frames and wooden sills. A Colonial
Revival porch with turned columns spans the facade; beneath the porch, 8-pane
cellar windows with early iron bars are aligned below the first-floor window
openings.

A two-course corbeled cornice marks the eave. The gable roof has a
prominent overhang, probably the result of a Victorian period renovation; the
roof frasing, however, appears to remain unaltered. A late-19th=-century
clipped-gable dormer i{s centered on the south slope just above the eave; the
triangular space under the shallow pitched dormer is sheathed in Cerman siding
with a central 6/6 sash.

Brick fnterior chimney stacks with corbeled caps; emerge from the roof
about midway up the south and north slopes. Their location, offset to the
east of center, reflects the unusual placement of the fireplaces against the
masonry partition wall between the stalr passage and the principal rooms; a
more typical arrangement would locate the fireplaces against the gable end
wall.

The west elevation, like all the other walls of the house, i{s laid in
S5=course bond. The west gable is four bays wide, with two large 6/6 windows
to the north of center and one to the south; the southernmost bay is
unfenestrated. This pattern characterizes both the first and second stories.
Eight-pane cellar windows are aligned below the first-floor openings; the
northernmost window is closed with a pair of batten shutters hung on strap
hinges, and the others have early iron bars. All openings have plain ({.e.,
not gauged) jack arches; window frames have a half-round profile and wooden
sills.

See Continuation Sheet No 7/2
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A large semlcircular window {s centered in the upper gable, comprising
a 6/6 sash flanked by fixed multipane lunettes set in an arched openings. The

peak of the gable overhang is clipped.

The north slope of the roof has a single gable-roofed dormer with 6/6
sash located to the west of center.

A two-story, three bay kitchen wing extends to the north. Its west
wall {s flush with the west gable of the main house, and the brickwork appears
to be continuous, indicating a single period of construction. On the first
story, a transomed entrance is located slightly south of center, flanked on
either side by 6/6 windows. A Victorian one-bay shed-roofed porch sheltered
the entrance until recently; a flight of four granite steps to a granite deck
remain. A bulkhead entrance in the south bay provides access to the cellar,
lighted by an 8-pane window in the north bay. First floor and cellar level
openings have jack arches. Three 6/6 windows are ranged across the second
story, below a two-course corbeled cornice. The west slope of the gable roof
has two gabled dormers with 6/6 sash; Grecian ovolo-plus-fillet molding
decorates their eaves and rake, with short returns on the front.

The north gable wall of the kitchen is unfenestrated. A two-story
gallery comprises the eastern third of this elevation, recessed within the
unbroken pitch of the roof. The triangular area above the ceiling of the
gallery is enclosed with plain weatherboards. Beaded, tapered rakeboards
follow the slope; an interior chimney with corbeled cap rises from the peak of
the gable.

The east elevation of the kitchen wing is spanned by the gallery
mentioned above. At the first-floor level, this porch has turned colunmns
which appear early, and a recently rebullt brick deck; on the upper level,
there {s a balustrade with rectangular balusters and an oval-section rail; the
porch posts are square up to the handrail, and turned above {it. There is a
board ceiling on the first level, while the gallery ceiling is finished with
plaster. Under the porch, in the east elevation, there {s a transomed kitchen
entrance flanked by 6/6 windows on the first level, and two doors on the
second level providing independent access from the second-floor passage and
chamber, with a 6/6 window in the north bay. Early louvered shutters survive
in this protected location. Entrances at the south end of the porch provide
access to and from the main house on both levels. A gabled dormer is located
to the north of center on the ecast slope of the roof.

The north elevation of the main house is entirely covered by the
kitchen wing and integral gallery. One corbel course is just visible at
cornice level above the roof of the wing, but the Victorian eave overhang

conceals most of this treatment.

See Continuatfion Sheet No. 7/3
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The east gable of the main house has two barred cellar windows.
Entrances with six-panel doors are offset to the south of center on both the
first and second stories; although both of these entrances are well above
ground level, there is no readily observable evidence of a former porch or
stair or porch serving them. On the second story, a 6/6 window located to the
right of the door lights the stalr passage; there is a8 pair of smaller 6/6
windows in the gable peak. The clipped gable overhang seen on the west
elevation is repeated on this side.

The interior is organized in a side passage plan, with the passage
running the depth of the house along the east side, and two equal sized rooms
opening o9ff the passage on the west.

The first floor is characterized by an extremely high level of
refinement in decorative detalling, reflecting transitional Federal-Greek
Revival influence. The stair passage is the most elaborately decorated public
space, and sets the tone for the rooms which open off {t. Six-panel doors
have shallow-fielded panels with Crecian-ovolo-plus-fillet panel molds, and
are framed by coamplex symmetrically molded architraves with corner blocks
enriched by an unusual four-leaf foliated wmotif in full relief. A heavy
plaster cornice incorporating several classical molding profiles encircles the
passage; around the ceiling within the cornfce,the architrave molding and
corner blocks repeated in plaster. Plaster molding divides the ceiling into
three panels, each with a circular medallion with profiles derived from the
cornice molding; the central medallion i{s larger and features an elaborate
grapevine motif. The stepped baseboard is capped by a double Grecian ovolo
and fillet.

The two-run stair rises against the east wall. Slender tapered tiger
maple balusters carry an oval-section walnut handrail which ends in a scroll
at the “"squirrel cage” newel.

The step ends are decorated with scrollwork, and the area under the
carriage is paneled, with panel profiles and molds matching those found in the
doors. At the north end of the passage, an original louvered door under the
stair landing opens into a small vestibule affording communication between the
dining room, cellar, and porch. It is noteworthy that the corner blocks in
this small service area are plain, lacking the foliated element.

The south parlor and north dining rcom exhibit a level of finish
consistent with that established in the passage . Architrave and baseboard
trim are fdentical, and the plaster cornice and ceiling treatments are also
the same except that these rooms have a single central medallion without the
grapevine motif. Large 6/6 windows are set in splayed jambs with a heavy bead
at the edge; the area below each window has a single horizontal panel matching
the door panels. A pair of large double leaf doors with eight panels each is
centered in the partition separating these two rooms.

See Continuation Sheet No. 7/4



NP§ Form 104004 OB Azprowws No. 10040010
Eaad

United States Department of the Interior AD

National Park Service | o 1eon

National Register of Historic Places
Continuation Sheet

Elkridge Furnace Complex HO-367
Howard County, Maryland

Section number 7" Page _7-%

The parlor and dining room are heated by fireplaces with Classical
mantels of black marble. As noted above, these interior fireplaces are backed
up against the east wall of these rooms, f.e. the partition separating them
from the passage, a highly unusual configuration.

A door in the west corner of the north wall of the dining room opens
into a large pantry, through which access is gained to the kitchen. The north
gable wall of the kitchen is dominated by a large cooking fireplace which
retains an early {ron crane. To the left of the fireplace, original built=-in
cabinets occupy the area between the chimney breast and the west wall.

The south wall of the kitchen is a board partition with three doors+
to a closet on the east, a winder stair in the approximate center, and the
pantry on the west.

The winder stair rises from the kitchen to a small cross-passage, with
a door to the upper level of the gallery at its east end and a a modern
bathroom inserted at the west end. A chamber over the kitchen opens off the
north side of the passage. This room is heated by a fireplace in the north
gable wall. An elaborate Greek Revival mantel, with symmetrically molded
pilasters supporting a paneled frieze and complex-molded shelf, framing an
outstanding iron fireplace insert bearing the mark of Ellicott's Elkridge
Furnace. Original closets flank the fireplace (the one to the left has been
enlarged); the interior plaster shows evidence of original shelving.

The main stair rises to a broad landing which has a door in the north
wall opening onto the upper level of the gallery. The stair turns and
continues to the second-floor passage, which is lighted by a 6/6 window in the
west wall; next to this window, there is a door opening to the outside,
although there is no evidence on the exterior of the former porch or gallery
this door would have served, nor in fact of any provision for such a porch
which may have been {intended but not realized. The passage features
decorative detailing consistent with that of the first floor.

Two chambers open off the passage to the west, and there is another
small room at the south end of the passage. The chambers are heated by
fireplaces with Greek Revival {influenced mantels, coamprising coluans
supporting bulls-eye side blocks flanking a symaetrically molded frieze and
complex molded shelf. The architrave and bascboard trim s similar to that
downstairs, but slightly simplified; the corner blocks have bull's eyes, not
foliated motifs, and the baseboard profile lacks one element. The small
unheated room at the end of the passage has a 3-pane transom over the door,
and a shallow built-in cabinet has narrow double-leaf doors.

See Continuation Sheet No. 7/5
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The half-story of the main block contains four small, simply finished
rooms. Two of these have fireplaces with backband surrounds and molded
shelves; the other two are unheated. There are two unheated rooms in the
half-story of the kitchen wing.

Company Store and Hotel or Dormitory, 2nd quarter 19th Century

Abutting the main house on the east is a 2 1/ story, five-bay, gable
roofed building constructed of brick laid in 5-course bond. This building is
labeled "store”™ on Martenet's 1860 map, and was probably constructed in the
second quarter of the 19th century. The south facade, facing Furnace Avenue,
has a central entrance with a (replacement) door framed by narrow panels and
surmounted by a transom. A heavy twisted iron bar runs across the transom.
The entrance is flanked by pairs of 6/6 windows in half-round molded frames,
with jack arch lintels and wooden sills. A hipped porch spans the three
center bays. Five 6/6 windows are ranged across the second story. The eaves
are finished with a box cornice with a cove crown mold, cove-and-bead bed

mold, and a plain fascia.

The main house adjoins the west gable end of this building about
two-thirds of the way back. There is a single 6/6 window centrally located at
both second floor and attic level. A corbeled interior end chimney, is set
back to the north of the ridge.

The north elevation, oriented to the Patapsco River, is similar to the
south facade, with a transomed entrance in the central bay flanked on either
side by two 6/6 windows. The first-floor windows retain flat-paneled shutters
with the unusual feature of iron strap reinforcements across the i{nner face of

the lover panels, and hardware for barring theam from inside. This feature,
and the {ron bar across the south transom, reflect a concern with security

consistent with the building's commercial use.

The east gable elevation has a small transomed entrance in the north
corner, and bulkhead at the south end. The bulkhead retains its original
beaded batten doors in a beaded surround behind a later granite structure with
steel doors. There is evidence that a small gable-roofed addition formerly
existed against the northern half of this elevation. The uppers stories each
have a centered 6/6 window, and an interior end chimney i{s offset to the north
of the ridge.

The interifor 4is laid out in a center passage plan, with two

unequal-sized rooas on either side. The winder stair near the north end of
the passage is the result of a post-Victorian reorientation; evidence suggests

that the original stair ran in a steep, straight flight from just inside the
north door.

See Continuation Sheet No. 7/6
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The partition which formerly separated the southeast and northeast
rooms has been removed, but its location {s apparent on the ceiling joists.
The northeast room was the smaller of the two, and had a plastered ceiling.
This room was heated (the fireplace mantel has been lost) and finished with
symmetrically-molded architrave trim with bull's-eye corner blocks. This room
was accessible both through the center passage, and also by means of an
independent entrance from outside, located in the east gable wall facing the
furnace.

The southeast room was considerably larger and less finely detailed.
This room was unheated, and the cefling jolists were left exposed with beaded
edges. Window and door frames 4n thfis room (and in the two western
first-floor rooms as well as the south end of the passage) have simple
double-half-round trim.

Two rooms open off the west side of the passage. As on the east side,
the northwest room is heated while the southwest room is not. It appears that
these two rooms did not originally communicate with one another. The
northwest room has a doorway to the main house in the west gable wall.

Architectural evidence suggests that the ©builldings's primary
orientation was to the north, toward the river. The north end of the passage
has more formal detailing than the south end, and the stair originally rose
from Jjust inside the north door. The small northwest room is the most
carefully finished of the four rooms on the first floor; its level of finish,
and the independent entrance, suggest that this room functioned as a public
space, perhaps an office. The unheated south roo=s may have held merchandise,
and the northwest room =- heated and communicating directly with the main
house -- may have served as a counting room.

The upper stories contain sleeping chambers. Local tradition holds
that the bullding functioned as a hotel; this may be correct, but a dormitory
for furnace workers would be an equally likely interpretation. On the second
story, the two north rooms are larger than the south rooms, and feature
fireplaces with CGreek Revival mantels, symmetrical architrave triz with
bull's-eye corner blocks, and beaded baseboards. The three south rooms are
unheated, and have double-half-round trim and plain baseboards. The two
unheated rooms in the half-story have peg ralls in addition to woodwork like
that of the second floor south rooms. The west attic room retains a beaded
batten door.

Plank Outbuildings (2), Nineteenth Century

Northwest of the house are two 14" x 16" one-story gable-roofed
outbuildings, of dovetailed plank construction on stone foundations. The one
just west of the kitchen wing has a two~-bay facade, with a beaded-batten door
in a beaded frame in its left bay and a 6/6 window to the right, closed with a
batten shutter. The west gable is unfenestrated. The north elevation has a

See Continuation Sheet No. 7/7
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single 6/6 window opening, approximately centered, with a batten shutter. An
exterior chimney stack formerly rose against the east gable; to the right of
the chimney location, a small batten door, probably reached by a ladder,
affords the only access to the loft. The building is sheathed in circu=-
lar-sawn weatherboards, secured with machine nails. Where this slding has
been removed, as on the south elevation, traces of whitewash and red paint
remain on the planks; the east gable, facing the kitchen, retains evidence of
an early exterior finish of smooth plaster. The building 1is constructed of
pitsawn planks which were evidently reused, as they exhibit.nuserous plugged
one-inch holes at approximately regular intervals,as well as several open
mortises distributed at random.

The interior of this building is finished with plaster over riven lath
secured with machine nafls. The floor is excavated to about a foot below
grade and paved with brick. The remains of a large brick fireplace are
centered on the east wall, flanked by brick facing up to about walst height.
Window and door frames are finished with a narrow band of nolding primarily
federal in character. Several carved hanging pegs are placed in various
locations around the room. There is no evidence of interfor access to the
loft, which is also plastered.

The other outbuilding, located about 40' to the west, i{s identical in
form and construction but exhibits a wuch lower degree of {interfor finish.
llere the floor {s dirt, the walls and ceiling merely whitewashed, and there is
no evidence of decorative architrave trim. A crude stair 1s located in the
northwest cormer; although this 1is clearly a modern stair, the header is
mortised into the top gable plank and ceiling joists in such a way as to
suggest it is in an original location. 1In the loft, the gable studs are
tenoned into the top plank and toe-nailed against the end rafters with machine
nails. A squarish 4-pane window is offset to the south in the east gable; a
small door is centered in the west gable. The common rafters are hewn from
reused timber; some are lapped at the ridge but an equal number are mitered,
and there is no discernable pattern to the distribution of the two types.

Manager or Clerk's House, ca. 1835

Opposite the main house at’ 5730 Furnace Avenue is a 2 1/2 story
gable-roofed frame side-passage single pile dwelling with an original kitchen
ell. This building is sheathed in wide weatherboards, and features a s=all
pedimented portico over {ts transomed entrance. The interior retains the
majority of its original decorative detailing, which reflects a period and
stylistic influences consistent with that of the main house, albeit on a
lesser scale. It is a reasonable assumption that this house accommodated a
manager or clerk associated with the furnace operations in the second quarter
of the 19th century.

See Continuatfion Sheet No. 7/8
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Brick Duplex, mid 19th Century

South of the furnace site, at 5730 Race Road, stands a two-story brick
duplex with a low-pitched gable roof, which presumably housed furnace workers
in the mid=-19th century. This building has been extensively altered with the
conversion to a single family dwelling in the early 20th century, and more
recently by the application of blue synthetic siding, but nevertheless retains
sufficient f{ntegrity of form, materfals, and location to reflect its
association with the manufacturing complex.

See Continuaction Sheet No. 7.9
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8. Statement of Significance HO=367
Contitying official has considered the significance of this property in relation 10 other properties:

[(nationatty [ statewide [ locally
Applicable National Register Criteria  [JA []8 ¢ [Jo

Criteria Considerations (Exceptions) [ A [ 18 [Jc [Jo [Je [Jf [Je

Areas of Significance (enter categories from instructions) Period of Significance Significant Dates
Architecture c.1835 -1868 N/A
Industry

Cultural Affiliation
N/A
Significant Person Architect/Builder
N/A Unknown

State significance of property, and justify criteria, criteria considerations, and areas and periods of significance noted above.

SIGNIFICANCF SUMMARY:

The Flkridge Furnace Complex is significant for the
architectural character of some of its buildings and for its
association with the iron industry in nineteenth century Maryland.
Architecturally, the owner's residence is an unusually sophisticated
example of a second-quarter nineteenth century house for then-rural
Howard County. Characterized by refined Federal-Greek Revival
woodwork, the house has an unusual interior chimney placement,
ornate ceiling plaster work, double doors between the first floor
parlors, and stone mantels. Adding to architectural significance
are two buildings of dovetailed plank construction. These buildings
are rare examples of a Fform of construction once believed to be
relatively common. Historically, the Elkridge FPurnace Complex adds
to our knowledge of the iron industry. The complex buildings
reflect domestic aspects of the managers and workers plus insights
into the commercial aspect. Of particular note is the company store
and hotel dormitory. This building with its high degree of
integrity of plan and features permits inferences regarding the
building's functions. Fspecially noteworthy are the early security
devices and the hierarchy of finishes reflecting the status of
various rooms. The only approximately comparable building known in
the state is the Harford Furnace Store in Harford County which has
been extensively altered.

[¥] see continuation sheet for
HISTORIC CONTEXT and MARYLAND COMPREHENSIVE
HISTORIC PRESERVATION PLAN data.



9. Bibl References HA-367
Howard County Land Records, Courthouse, Ellicott City, MD.

Maryland Inventory of Historic Properties, Maryland Historical Trust
Annapolis (statewide and Howard County).

[]see continuation sheet
Previous documentation on file (NPS):

[ pretiminary determination of individual listing (36 CFR 67) Primary location of additional data:
has been requested Siate historic preservation office
previously listed in the National Register Other State agency
previously determined eligible by the National Register Federal agency
designated a National Historic Landmark Local government
recorded by Historic American Buildings [ University
Survey # []other

[[Jrecoraed by Historic American Engineering Specity repository-

Record #

10._Geographical Data

of property approximately 6 acres
USGS quad Relay, MD

UTM References
ALL,8] [3[5,2]9,3,0] [4,3[4,1]5,8,0] - G N A RS RPN Y ree IR e
Zone  Easting Northing Zone Easting Northing
(o33 BT (0 (5] o etl FOTR O Duci LER PR (0 R AT W) v T P | DT R T T, ) e PR BRI
[} see continuation sheet
Verbal Boundary Description

[} See continuation sheets No. 10.1, 10.2, 10.3

Boundary Justificalion The nominated property consists of the three detached parcels upon
which the historic resource stand. The surrounding parcels are characterized
by mostly twentfeth century houses and commercial buildings - all non-furnace
associated - many of which have been or will be demolished. Areas along the
river are now Howard County park land.

C]Soocauanbnlhun

11._Form Prepared By

nameftitie Peter E. Kurtze, Historic Sites Survev Administrator
Maryland Historical Trust date __ 1989
street & number 21 State Circle telephone _(301) 974-5000

city or town __Annapolis state _Maryland ____ zip code _21401
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HISTORIC CONTEXT:

MARYLAND COMPREHENSIVE HISTORIC PRESFRVATION PLAN DATA
Geographic Organization: Piedmont

Chronological/Developmental Pariod(s):

Agricultural /Tndustrial Transition A. D. 1815=1870

Prehistoric/Historic Period Theme(s):
Architecture/Landscape Architecture/Community Planning

Fconomic (Commercial and Industrial)

Resource Type:
Category: buildings
Historic Environment: rural
Historic Function(s) and lise(s):
DOMESTIC/single dwelling
DOMESTIC/institutional housing
COMMERCE /TRADE /foffice

INDUSTRY/PROCESSING/EXTRACTION/manufacturing facility

See Continuation Sheet No. 8.2
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HISTORIC CONTEXT:

The tract of which the land associated with the Flkridge
Furnace Complex 1is a part was originally surveyed bv Robert Hughes
and resurveyed by James McCubbin in 1744. McCubbins' property was
incorporated into a 1730-acre tract known as "Walker's Inheritance"
through a resurvey by Dr. James Walker in 1744. Elkridge Furnace
was established by Caleb Dorsey, who bought a portion of the Walker
property at an unknown date. By 1768 the furnace required
rebuilding, which was accomplished by a Dr. Howard.

The property changed hands many times into the first quarter of
the 19th century. By 1820, the furnace was operated by John and
Andrew Fllicott. The Ellicotts rebuilt the furnace to a much larger
capacity, enabling them to produce 16,000 tons of pig iron in 1826,
In 1836, the Fllicotts purchased the complex from Nehemiah Rowles.
The Ffurnace continued to be operated by Jonathan Ellicott and Sons
until 1854 when Henry William Fllicott sold the property to Robert
Howard.

The buildings comprising the present Rlkridge Furnace Complex
were in all likelihood constructed during the Fllicotts' tenure.
Stylistic Ffeatures {in conjunction with construction technoloqy
suggest that the main house, outhuildings, manager's dwelling and
store/dormitory were all built within a fairly close time frame
centered on the mid=1830s.

Robert Howard sold the property to the Great Falls Iron Company
in 1858 for $71,000. The transaction included "all personal
property of Robert Howard. . .horses, mules, oxen, wagons and carts,
hay, straw, grain, feed, manure and farming utensils, furnace tools,
fixtures and machinery, enqgine and boilers, baskets and barrows with
materials for the manufacture of iron ore, coal, wood, shells. Fire
brick, old iron, iron pipe, patterns, flasks, etc. and the stack of
good wares and merchandise in the store of the said Howard at
Elkridge Landing": (Deed of 25 Jan., 1858 - liber 19, folio 132).
Martenet's 1860 map of Howard County shows the complex as a dozen or
more buildings along Furnace Avenue to the west and are indicated as
belonging to the Great Falls Iron Company. These buildings,
probably workers' houses, have not survived,

The Patapsco River flooded in 1868, destroying the furnace.
The property passed to Robert H., Brown in 1887. Brown was probably
responsible for the Victorian alterations to the main house which
included the Furness-inspired clipned dormer and gable eaves.

See¢ Continuation Sheet No. 8.3
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Brown sold the preoperty to Joseph Toomey, Jr. in 1904; it
remained 1in the Toomey family until 1971, when it was sold to Trwin
Lowe. The property was acquired by the State of Marvland in the
1980s.
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BIGINNING FOR THE First on the fast side of the Elkridge Road at the Scutheast
corner of a lot conveyed by Robert H. Brown and his wife, to Jeseph H. Toomey and
vife by Deed dated December 21, 1904 and reccrded aseng the Land Records of
Howard County in Liber WvLC 80, folio 229, thence running tlong the East side of
said road South 51 1/4 degrees East 13.95 perches tc a fence corner, thence aleng
said fence North 51 degrees East 16 perches to the Southwest bank of the Patapace
River thencs along the water of said river North 47 degrses Vest 2) 3/4 perchas
to the end of the second line of said parcel fro= Robert H. Brown and his wife te
Joseph H. Tocmey and his wife, thence reversing said line South 36 degrees West
17 perches to the place of beginning containing therein 2.2 acres of land more or
less. The izprovements thereon being now known as 3741-45 Furnace Avenua.

Being the same lot of ground which by Deed dated July 13, 1987 and recerded among
the Land Records of Howard County, Maryland ian Lider 1705 Folio 156, was granted
and conveyed by Irwin Lowe and Patsy A. Lowe, his wife to the Grantors herein.

BEGINNING FOR THE Second at an iren pipe heretofore set on the south sdge of the
country road known as Race Road, the said point baing at 184.42 fest on the
second or south 59-1/2 West 36.3 perches line cf that land, the land herein
described being a part thereof, which by deed dated February 27, 1906 and
recorded azong the Land Records of Howard County in Liber No. 81, folio 561,
etc,, was granted and conveyed by March M. Dempster %o James N. Fitzgerald and
Lizzie V. Fitzgerald, his wife, and running with the caid road and reversely with
a part of the said second line to the origin therscf, as now surveyed: (1) Nerth
63 degrees, 19 minutes 36 seconds East 184.42 feet to a stone heretofore set,
thence leavinag the said road and running raversely with the first and sixth lines
of the said land, (2) South 35 degrees 23 minutes 24 seconds East 364.63 feet,

(3) South 80 degrees 49 zinutes 36 secconds Vest 43.50 feet to the northeastern
end of that land, which by deed dated May 26, 1970 and recorded among the said
Land Records in Liber No. 533, felio 42, etc., vas granted and conveyed by Marie
Fitzgerald to Howard Couaty (Department of Severs) and running reversely with the
tenth or South 45 degrees 20 minutes 48 seconds East 5.58 foot line of the said
land; (4) North 35 degrees 58 minutes 42 seconds West 5.58 fest, thence running
reversely with the ninth, eighth and a part ¢f the seventh lines of the said
conveyance to Howard County, thence with 2 curve to the left: (3) RADIUS - 230.00
feet subtended by the Chord: South 71 dagrees 17 ninutes 57 seconds Vest 71.74
feeat, (6) South 62 degrees 19 minutes 36 secouds Vest 60,9 feet to a point on a
straight line projection of the second or South 35 degrees 25 minutes 24 seconds
East 1320.11 foot line of that line, vhich by deed dated April 22, 1971 and
reccrded azong the said Land Records in Liber No. 556, folio 40, etc., was
grapated and conveyed by Maris I. Fitzgerald to Tilden O. Yancy and Rosetta M.
Yancy, his vife, theacs running reversely with the said projectica in combination
vith the said second line of the said conveyance to Yancy; (7) Noerth 35 degrees
25 minutes 24 seconds West 132,21 feet to the point of beginning, containing
2.265 acres of land, zore or less. Tie inmprovements thereon being known and
designated as 5735 Race Road,

See Continuation Sheet No. 10.2
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This parcel of land is also shown on Minor Subdivision Plat No. MOS0 71, folic
12, filed in the Office of Planning and Zoning for Howard County, Maryland.

Being the sazme lot of ground which by Deed dated April 15, 1987 and recorded
azeng the Land Recerds of Howard County in Liber 1637 Folio 598 was granted and
conveyed by Richard L. Spitznogle and Katherine A. Spitznogle, his wife to the
grantors herein.

BEGINNING FOR THE Third on the West side of Purnace Road at the end of a line
dravn South 23 degrees 30 minutes West 50.16 feet from a stone at the beginning
<o tha land described in the deed dated December 21, 1904 and recorded azong the

Land Records of Howard County in Liber W.W.L.C. No. 80, rolio 229, ete., fro=
Robert H, Brown and others to Joseph H. Tcoomey, Jr., and wife, said poiat of

beginning being also the beginning of a lot of ground conveyed on the 27th day of
February 1306, by Mary M. Dempster to the said Joseph R. Toomey, Jr. and wife,
and reccrded among the land records of Howard County and runniag thence south 49
degrees 15 minutes East 120 feet, thence Scuth 40 degrees 45 minutes west 247.%7
feet, thence North )0 degrees 15 minutes West 126.91 feet to a stone, thence
North 49 degrees 15 minutes West 115.50 feet thence North 40 degrees 45 minutes
East 199.65 foet, thence South 52 degrees )1 minutes East 115.69 feet to the

. place of beginning, containing 1.163 acres of land, zmore or less.

Being the saze lot of ground which by deeds dated July 15, 1987 and recorded
among the Land Records of Howard County in Liber 1702 Polic 186 and Liber 1702
Folio 474 was granted and conveyed by Roy A. Bauman County, Ianc. to the grantors
herein.

BEING the saze land vhich Dy Deed dated Octcber 17, 13918 and recorded azeng the
Land Records of Howard County in Liber H.B.N. 106, Folio 159, was granted and
convayed by John Pitzinger and wife to Lewis C. Tozmey and Fannie L. Toz=ey, his
vife.

SAVING AND EXCEPTING thersfrom all that lot of ground devised by Barbara Ellen
Toozey to her daughter, Helen Lucy Temmey, by Item 1, Paragraph B of her Last
Will and Testament, recorded in Wills Liber R.D. € at Folioc 376.

BEING alsc all that lot devised toc Lewis C. Tocmey Dy his mother, Barbara Ellen
Toomey, by Item 2, Paragraph A of her Last Will and Testament dated July 3, 1923
and duly adnitted to probate by the Orphan's Court of Howard County in the 0ffice
of the Register of Wills in Wills Lider R.D. 6 at Folioc 376.

BEING alsc a part of that property vhich by deed dated September 1, 1955 and
recorded azong the Land Records of Howard County ia Liber R.H.M. 273, Folio 1238,
vas granted and conveyed by Daniel N. Murray, Jr. and Marshall Hunter Murray, his
wife, to Levis C. Tozmzmey and Frances L. Toomey, bis wife.

See Continuation Sheet No. 10.3
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The said Lewie C, Tocmey departed this Lifs on or about Jazua
thi [ £y 192, 1961 ownin
said parcels of land as a tenant by the entirety with Frances f. Tooney. :

BEING also all that parcel of ground which by deed dated Apri

pril 23, 1968 4
recorded azong the Land Records of Howard County in LIber V.H.¥W. 486, Fo;:o 788,
vas granted and conveyad by Lercy A. Bauman and Carolyn B. Bauman, his vife, to
Frances L. Toomaey.

The 2aid Frapces L. Tcgzay departad this life intestate on Noveszber 2. 1968,
ioav:nq &3 her only heir at lav the said Lawis C. Toomey, Jr., the Grantor
arein,

‘BEING all those parcel of grouad which by Deed datad Cctober 2, 1973 and recorded
azony the Land Records of Howard Ccuaty in Lider C.N.P, No. 656, Folio 110, wvas
granted and ccnveyed by Lewis C. Teozey, Jr. to Rey a Bauman Ca., Ize.
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MARYLAND ' Wil Donakd Schadr
HISTORICAL Gavermor
B Jacqueline H. Rogens

= | Secretary, DHCD
ey

:T-R“US :l: 14 March 1568

Richard N. Trainor, Secretary

Depertment of Transportation

P. 0. Box 8755
B.W.I. Airport

Baltimore, Maryland 21240

Re: Elxridge Furnace Complex
Elkridge, Howa:bd County

Dear Secretary Trainor:

The above-referenced property will be considered by the Governor's Consulting
Committee for nomination to the National Register of Historic Places on Monday, 18
April 1988. The National Register is the official 1list of historic properties
recognized by the Pederal Goverrment as worthy of preservation for their signifi-
cance in American history, architecture, archeology, engineering, and culture. In
Maryland, the nomination process is administered by the Maryland Historical Trust.
Enclosed is a copy of the criteria under which properties are evaluated for listing.
The meeting will be held in the Calvert Room of the State House, Annapolis,
Maryland, beginning at 10:00 a.m. You are welcome to attend this meeting.

Listing in the National Register results in the following for historic properties.

1. Consideration in planning for Pederal, feder or state funded, licensed and
assisted projects. er state legislation requires t eral agencies
allow the Advisory Council on Historic Preservation and state agencies, the

Maryland Historical Trust, opportunity to ccmment on all projects affecting
historic properties listed in the National Register. For further information
please refer to Section 36, Code of Federal Regulations, Part 800 and Annotated
Code of Maryland, Article 41, Section 181 et . or the Preservation Assistance
Division of the Maryland Historical Trust a%t %%I) 974 -4450.

is listed in the National

revises t storic preservation tax incentives authorized by Congress in the
Tax Reform Act of 1976, the Revenue Act of 1978, the Tax Treatment Extension Act
of 1980, the Econamic Recovery Tax Act of 1981, and Tax Reform Act of 1964, and
as of January 1, 1987, provides for a 20 percent investment tax credit with a
full adjustment to basis for rehabilitating historic commercial, industrial, and
rental residential buildings. The former 15 percent and 20 percent Investment
Tax Credits (ITCs) for rehabilitation of older commercial buildings are cambined
into a single 10 percent ITC for commercial or industrial buildings built before

1936. a

Departnent of Housng /ad Commmmity Development
Shaw House, 21 State Grcle, Assagols, Manaad 21401 (301) 974.2212, 9742438
Temporary Address: Arneld Village Professional Center, 1517 Rischie Highway, Armold, Marylaad 21012




The Tax Treatment Extension Act of 1980 provides Federal tax deductions for
charitable contributions for conservation purposes of partial interests in
historically important land areas or structures. Whether these provisions are
advantageous to a property owner is dependent upon the particular circumstances
of the property and the owner. Because tax aspects outlined above are complex,
individuals should consult legal counsel or the appropriate local Internal
Revenue Service office for assistance in determining the tax consequences of the
above provisions. For further information on certification requirements, please
refer to 36 CFR 67 or the Preservation Assistance Division of the Maryland
Historical Trust at (301) 974-4450.

3. Eligibility for a Maryland income tax benefit for the preservation of
owner-occupied nistoric residential bui%_%ﬁ further information, contact
g?xe Preservation Assistance Division O Raryland Historical Trust at (301)

4-4450.

4. Consideration of historic values in the decision to issue a surface coal mini
rmit where coal 1S located; in accord witn the ourrace HIH% Control ang
eclamacion Act of 1977, tnere must be consideration of historic values in the
decision to issue a surface ccel mining permit where ccal is located. For

further information, please refer to 30 CFR 700 et seg.

5. Eligibility to apply for federal and state grants and state low interest loans
for historic preservation projects. To determine the present status of such
gants and lcans, contact the Preservation Assistance Division of the Maryland

storical Trust at (301) 974-4450.

Owners of private properties ncminated to the National Register have an opportunity
to concur in or object to listing in accord with the National Historic Preservation
Act and 36 CFR €0. Any owner or partial owner of private property who chooses to
object to listing may submit to the State Historic Preservation Officer a notarized
statement certifying that the party is the sole or partial owner of thé private
property and objects to the listing. Each owner or partial owner of private
property has one vote regardless of what portion of the property that party owns. If
2 majority of private property owners object, & property will not be listed;
however, the State Historic Preservation Officer shall submit the nomination to the
Keeper of the National Register of Historic Places for a determination of
eligibility of the property for listing in the National Register. If the property
is determined to be eligible for listing, although not formally listed, Federal
ggencia will be required to allow the Advisory Council on Historic Preservation and

vate agencies, the Maryland Historical Trust, an opportunity to comment before the
agency may fund, license, or assist a project which will affect the property. If
you choose to object to the listing of your property, the notarized objection must
be submitted to J. Rodney Little, State Historic Preservation Officer, Maryland
Historical Trust, 1517 Ritchie Highway, Arnold, Maryland 21012, by the date of the
meeting given above.




., -

Listing in the National Register does NOT mean that the PFederal Government or the
State of Maryland wants to acquire the property, place restrictions on the property,
or dictate the color or materials used on individual buildings. Iocal ordinances or
laws establishing restrictive zoning, special design review committees, or review o
exterior alterations, are not a part of the National Register program. Listing also
does NOT require the owner to preserve or maintain the property or seek approval of
the Federal Goverrment or the state of Maryland to alter the property. Unless the
owner applies for and accepts special Federal or state tax, licensing, or funding
benefits, the owner can do anything with his property he wishes so long as it is
rermitted by state or local law.

If you wish to comment on whether the property should be nominated to the National

Register, please send your comments to J. Rodney Little, State Historic Preservation
ficer, (attention: Ronald L. Andrews) before the Governor's Consulting Committee

considers the namination. A copy of the nomination, regulations and information on

the National Register and Federal and State tax provisions are available from the

Trust. If you have questions about this nomination, please contact Ronald L.

g:;digzgé National Register Administrator of the Maryland Historical Trust at (301)
4 a

Sincerely,

/Z/W
J. Rodney Little
State Historic Preservation Officer

JRL/RIA/pe
Enclosure: Criteria Sheet

cc: Mrs. Mary Louise Gramkow
Mr. Ed Shull
Elizabeth Bobo, Howard County Executive
C. Vernon Gray, Chairman, Howard County Council
David Muser, SHA Property Management

State Clearinghouse



Wiliam Donald Schaefer

Jacqueline H. Rogers
Secretory, DHCD

20 April 1988

The Hon. Richard N. Trainor
Secretary

Department of Transportation

P. 0. Box 8755

B.W.I. International Airport 21240

Re: Elkridge Furnace Complex (HO-367)
Howard County

Dear Secretary Trainor:

The above referenced property was considered by the Governor's Consulting
Committee for nomination to the National Register of Historic Places on
18 April 1988. The Committee recommends nomination of the property. The next
step in the process involves final preparation of the application materials by
the Trust for submission to the National Register office in Washington. You
will be advised in writing of the decision of the National Register on the
neminaticon.

Sincerely,

/{nm&(l gﬂr&w—

Ronald L. Andrews
National Register Administrator

ril/pe

cc: Mrs. Mary Louise Gramkow
Mr. Ed Shull
Mr. David Muser
Hon. C. Vernon Gray
Hon. Elizabeth Bobo
State Clearinghouse No. MD880322-0220

Staw House, 21 State Cirde, Anzapols, Marylaad 21401 (300) 974-2212, 974-2438
Temporary Address: Arnold Village Professiocal Center, 1517 Rischie Highway, Amold, Marylaad 21012
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S 301 W, PRESTON STREET
BALTIMORE., MARYLAND 21201-236%
WILLIAM DONALD SCHAEFER conMAced 1988
GOVERNOR SECRETARY
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0 tsroncn

Mr. J. Rodney Little
Maryland Historical Trust
Village Professional Center
1517 Ritchie Highway
Arnold, Maryland 21012

SUBJECT: REVIEW AND RECOMMENDATION

State Application Identifier: MD880322-0220

Applicant: MHT

Description: Historic Nomination - Elkridge Furnace Complex
Location: Howard County

Approving Authority: DOI

CFDA Number: 15.914

Recommendation: Endorsement
Dear Mr. Little:

In accordance with Presidential Executive Order 12372 and Code of Maryland
Regulation 16.02.03, the State Clearinghouse has coordinated the intergovern-
mental review of the referenced subject. As a result of the review, it has
been determined that the subject is consistent with Maryland's plans, programs
and objectives as of this date. The State process recommendation is
endorsement.

All directly affected State and local public officials were provided notice of
the subject. Review comments were requested from the following local jurisdic-
tions and regional and State agencies:

Howard County, Regional Planning Council, Department of Housing and Community
Development including the Maryland Historical Trust, Department of Natural
Resources including the Coastal Zone Division, Department of Transportation and
the Department of State Planning.




Mr. J. Rodney Little
Page 2
April 29, 1988

In response to the review request, this letter constitutes the State process
recommendation. The State Clearinghouse must be kept informed if the
recommendation cannot be accommodated by the federal approving authority. The
Clearinghouse recommendation is valid for a period of three years from the date
of this letter. If the approving authority has not made a decision regarding
the subject within that time period, information should be submitted to the
Clearinghouse requesting a review update.

We appreciate your attention to the intergovernmental review process and look
forward to continued cooperation.

Sincerely,

Director, Maryland State Clearinghouse
for Intergovernmental Assistance

GWH:SB:scl

cc: Bruce Gilmore = DNR
Sheiala Moskow = DHCD
Clyde Pyers - MDOT
Daryl Rawlings - RPC (88056)
Roland English - DSP
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16 March 1990 NATIONAL

Ms. Carol Shull

Chief of Registration

National Register of Historic Places
National Park Service

P. 0. Box 37127

Washington, D. C. 20013-7127

re: FRlkridge Furnace Complex
Howard County, Maryland

Dear Carol:

Enclosed is documentation for nominating the Elkridge Furnace
Complex to the National Register of Historic Places. BRoth the
owner (State of Maryland) and the state review board concur with my
recommendation for listing. Should you have questions in this
matter, please contact Ron Andrews at 301-974-50C0.

Sincerely,

,/Zzﬁ‘%14ﬁ7
J. Rodney Little
State Historic Preservation Officer
JRL/RLA/pcC
Enclosures: NR form & 15 continuation sheets
1 USGS map
19 5x7 b/w prints
Correspondence:
Little to Trainor, 3/14/88
Andrews to Trainor, 4/20/88
Hager to Little, 4/29/88

cc: State Clearinghouse No.MD880322-0220
Mr. Ross Kimmel

Departmen of Housing Sind Commanity Developemen
Shaw House, 21 State Circle, Annapotis, Marylast 21401 (301) 974-5000
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15 May 1990

Ms. Carol Shull

Chief of Registration

National Register of Historic Places
National Park Service

P. O. Box 37127

Washington, D. C. 20013-7127

re: Elkridge Furnace Complex
Howard County, Maryland

Dear Carol:

Enclosed is the resubmission of the Elkridge Furnace Complex
nomination. Both the state review board and the owners concur with
my recommendation for listing. The problem with the period of
significance which caused the return has been corrected. As
the nomination has already been published in the Federal Register,
could you please expedite the listing. Should you have questions 1in
this matter, please contact Ron Andrews at 301-974-5000.

Sincerely,

J. Rodney Little
State Historic Preservation Officer

JRL/RLA/pc

Enclosures: NR form & 15 continuation shecets
1 USGS map
18 5x7 b/w printe
Correspondence:
Little to Trainor, 3/14/88
Andrews to Trainor.420/88
Hager to Little, 4/29/88

MHorganod

Department of Housing Fand Commanity Developmen
Shaw House, 21 State Circle. Anmapolis. Marylaad 21401 (301) 974-5000






